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PREFATORY NOTE.

Ix writing this sketch of the statesman whose career
occupies so great a space in the history of Lurope for
fifty years I have consulted, amongst others, the following
works: (1) “The Autobiography of Prince Metternich” ;
(2) Binder's “I'irst Clement von Metternich und sein
Zeitalter, 18367; (3) “Neuer Plutarch,” vol. wv.;
(4) Thiers’ “Histoire du Consulat et de I'Empire”;
(5) Capcfigue’s “ Diplomates Contemporains” ; (6) Ger-
vinus’s Geschichte des mneunzehnten Jahrhunderts”;
(7) Maurice’s “Revolutions of 1848-497; (8) Alder-
stein’s ““Chronologisches Tagebuch der Magyarischen
Revolution”; (9) “ Napoleon and his Detractors.”
G. B. ML
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I

LIFE OF
PRINCE METTERNICH.

CHAPTER I
EARLY TRAINING.
1773-1805.

DurixG the first moiety of the present eentury, that is,
from the year 1800 to the ycar 1848, Continental Europe
was aiternately ruled by two men. One of these, he who
ruled from 1800 to 1814, made his hand so heavy on the
nations he had subdued and crushed, that, on the first
great opportunity, they rose against him, and, by a
stupendous cffort, cast him down from his place of
supremacy. To ensure the potential character of that
effort, to render it absolutely decisive, no one contributed
more than the second of the two men to whom I have
referred.  He had his reward. When Waterloo had
completed the overthrow which Leipsig had initiated,
Prince Metternich stepped quietly into the scat whence
Napoleon had been hurled, and, for the three-and-thirty
years that followed, directed, unostentatiously but very
surcly, the policy of the Continent. Throughout that
period his was the central, the omnipotent, figure, to which
B
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sovereigns referred for advice and guidance, and before
which nations bowed. His system differed, in its essen-
tials, from that of the great congueror to whose scat he
had succeeded. The despotism of Napoleon was the
despotisin of the conqueror who had swept away the old
system, and who terrorised over its former supporters.
The despotism of Metternich, not less actual, used as its
willing instruments those very supporters upon whose
necks Napolcon had placed his heel.  Iis system was the
more dangerous to human freedom because it was dis-
guised. He was as a Jesuit succeeding an Attila; and
when, after enduring it long, the peoples of Europe
realised its result in the crushing of every noble aspira-
tion, of every attempt to secure real liberty, we cannot
wonder that they should have asked one another whether
it was to obtain such a system that they had combined to
overthrow Napoleon. When the awakening was com-
plete, retribution speedily followed. "The peoples, who,
led in 1813 by the kings upon whom Napoleon had
trampled, had, after completing their mission, trusted
their leaders, rose in 1848 to rid themselves of those
very leaders. During the carlier epoch, Metternich had
been the leading spirit to inspire the uprising; in the
later, he was the first victim. 1Tis system, established by
the successful ““ rising of the nations,” was destroyed by
the “rising of the peoples.”  But it had lasted over thirty
years. It had procured for Europe, wearied by twenty
years of constant war, if not internal repose, at lcast
external tranquillity.  Contrasted with the system on the
ruins of which it rose, it thus captivated, for a period, the
generous spirits who had contributed to establish it.  Men
were long unwilling to believe that so much blood had
been shed, so much enthusiasm evoked, ouly to sub-titute
a velvet-gloved despotism for the despotism of the sword ;
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that the one result of the “rising of the nations” had
been to ensure the more perfect triumph of absolutism.
When, at length, they did realise that one more crime
had been committed in the name of liberty, they hastened
to avenge the chief profaner of the sacred temple. DBut
the time required for the general awakening was long.
The despotic reign of Napoleon had lasted, dating from
Marengo, barely fourtcen years. The despotism of
Metternich endured thirty-three. It is the object of this
little book to pourtray the qualities and character which
made such a result possible; to show how a young
German diplomatist became so great a force in Europe
as, on more than onc occasion, to hold in his hands the
fate of the most famous man the world has ever scen :—on
one, especially critical, to bind together the combination
which ensured his overthrow ; finally, to rise on his ruin;
to occupy, virtually, his scat ; to hold it for thirty-threc
years; and then to descend from it at the indignant call
of the people he had betrayed ; and—a contrast to his
predecessor—to be forgotten cver after. The name of
Napoleon still lives: supreme as a warrior, great as a
statesman, great in the enthusiasm it may even yet evoke.
The name of Metternich arouses no recollection but that
of the aphorism to which, in the plenitude of his power,
he is said to have borrowed from Louis XV.: ¢ Apres
moz le déluge.”

The career of Metternich divides itself naturally into
ten epochs. The first, from his birth to the embassy to
Paris in 1806 ; the sccond, from 1806 to the outbreak of
the war in 1809 ; the third, from the war of 1809 to the
retreat from Moscow ; the fourth, from the winter of 1812
to the armistice of Pleiswitz ; the fifth, from the armistice
of Pleiswitz to the renewal of hostilities ; the sixth, from
the rupture of the armistice to the fall of Napolcon in

B 2
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1814 ; the seventh,” during the erisis before the Hundred
Days—and after ; the eighth, the rise and progress of the
Continental systemn he established ; the ninth, the decline
and fall of that Continental system; the tenth, the
conclusion of his carcer. I shall begin, without further
preface, with the first.

Clement Wenceslas Nepomuk Lothair Metternich
belonged to an old noble family located on the Lower
Rhine. ITis father, Francis George Metternich, a diplo--
matist of some repute, had married Maria Beatrix Aloisa,.
Countess of Kageneck, and of this marriage the subject.
of this sketch was the first issue. Clement Metternich
was born at Coblentz the 15th of May, 1773. Until
he attained the age of fiftcen he was educated at home with
his brother, eighteen months younger than himself, by
three successive tutors.  In 1788 he procecded to complete
his studies at the University of Strasburg. The year he
went there, he tells us in his memoirs, the youthful Napoleon
Bonaparte had just left. “We had,” he adds, “ the same
professors for mathematics and fencing.” At the Univer-
sity, Metternich went through the usual course, but he
bad not yet completed his studies when, in October, 1790,
he was summoned by his father to I'rankfort, to assist
there at the coronation of the Emperor Leopold.  After
this ceremony he resumed his studies, not at Strasburg,
but at the University of Mayence, to read law and juris-
prudence. Ile was then only seventcen, but already he
had scen something of the world, for, at Frankfort, he
had made the acquaintance of the Archduke, who
subscquently became the Emperor Francis, and many
other members of the Tmperial family. Ile had also
taken his first step as an official, for he was chosen there
by the Catholic Imperial Courts of the Westphalian
Beneh to be their Master of the Ceremonies.  The Irench:
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Revolution was then in its carly initiatory stages. “ I'rom
that moment,” he writes, “ 1 was its closcst observer, and
subsequently became its adversary; and so I have cver
remained.” At Mayence, Metternich divided his time
between his studies, and a society of which he writes, that
it was “as distingunished for intellectual superiority as for
the social position of its members.” This society was
composed mainly of French emigrants of the higher
classes, whose exile was voluntary. Association with
them confirmed the hatred of the Revolution previously
imbibed. Ile ecvidently regarded these emigrants as the
true representatives of the I'rench nation, for he writes of
them: “In this way also I came to know the I'rench; I
learned to understand them, and to be understood by them.”

From Mayence, Metternich was summoned, in 1792,
to proceed to I'rankfort to attend the coronation of the
Emperor Francis, who had been clected successor to his
brother Leopold.  Again was he selected to perform the
same ceremonious offices as had been entrusted to him on
the previous occasion, and again did he improve his
acquaintance with the frequenters of the courtly circle.
Amongst these he notes especially Prince Auton Ester-
hazy, the principal ambassador of the Emperor ; and the
Princess Louise of Mecklenburg, afterwards Queen of
Prussia.  This illustrious lady, mother of the late
Emperor of Germany, was two ycars younger than
Metternich, but he had known her from childhood, for
her grandmother, by whom she had been brought up
at Darmstadt, had been on intimate terms with his
mother.

From the University of Mayence, Metternich procceded,
first to Coblentz, and then to Brussels, in the University
of which city he became a student. But his occupations,
at this period, would scem to have been of a very
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desultory character. The Irench armies were invading
the Low Countries, and Metternich relates that his studies
were interrupted by having to pass to and fro between
Brussels and the Austrian army, sometimes with com-
missions from his father, somnctimes to see his friends.
In this mammer, visiting also the scenes of military
operations, he passed the winter of 1793-4. In the
beginning of the latter year he accompanied the chief
trcasurer of the Netherlands Government on a mission to
London. There, not only was he reccived by the King
“with unusual kindness and affability,” but he came to
know, personally, William Pitt, Fox, Burke, Sheridan,
Grey, and other leading men. e frequented the sittings
of Parliament, and followed with the deepest attention the
trial of Warren Hastings. Ie adds: I cudeavoured
to acquaint myself thoroughly with the mechanism of
the Parliament, and this was not without use in my
subsequent carcer.”  Amongst those with whom he
became intimate was the Prince of Wales, “onc of the
handsomest men I ever saw,” and of whose abilities he
formed a high opinion. Whilst in London, the young
diplomatist received from his Court, his nomination to the
post of Ambassador Extraordinary and Minister Plenipo-
tentiary at the ITague. The passage to the Continent
was difficult, as a French fleet was in the chammel.
Metternich proceeded then with the sanction of the King,
to sce the English fleet which had assembled at Dorts-
wouth to sail, under Admiral (soon to become Lord)
Howe, against the encmy. The sight of this flect, and of
a large convoy of merchant ships under its wing, from the
top of the hill behind Cowes, on which Metternich had
posted himself, was, he relates, the most ¢ beautiful sight
1 have ever secen—I ight say, indeed, the most beantiful
that human eyes have ever beheld!”  So impressed was.
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he, that he requested the Admiral to allow him to remain
on board his ship, to sce the impending fight; but the
Admiral would not. Two days later was fought the
famous battle of the Ist of June.

The journey of Metternich to the Continent was accom-
panied by many circumstances attended with danger, but he
finally reached Holland, visited Amsterdain, part of North
ITolland, and the Iague, and thence procceded to the
Lower Rhine to take up his post, the French armies
having rendered a prolonged stay in the Netherlands
impossible.

The progress of the French arms continuing, and the
Metternich estates on the Rhine having been confiscated,
Metternich was called by his father to Vienna, and, a
little later, was sent to Bohemia to manage the family
property in that kingdom—the only property remaining
to them. After scttling this property he returned to
Vienna, where he found his parents busily engaged in
arranging for his marriage with a grand-daughter of the
famous Prince Kaunitz. This marriage was celebrated,
Sept. 27, 1795, at Austerlitz—a place destined, tes ycars
later, to become so famous.

By this time the experience he had acquired of diplo-
macy had quite disgusted Metternich with his carecr.
e had determined, he says, ¢ to remain in private life,
and to devote my time to the cultivation of learning and
science.”  But events were too strong for him, or possibly,
the disgust was only of a passing character. Though for
two years he adliered to his resolution, devoting himsclf
to scieuce and the society of scientific men, the request
made to him by the Counts of the Westphalian “ Colle-
gium” to represent them at the Congress of Rastadt,
drew him back to the world of diplomacy and politics.
1lc accompanied thither his father, the first pienipoten-
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tiary of the German Ewmpire, and remained there till the
middle of March, 1799. Then he returned to Vienna,
his respect for diplomatists and diplomaey not apparently
inereased, and resumed his scientific studies. 1lis life at
this period, he writes, “was that of a man who sought
cxclusively good society. The day was usually given
entirely up to business, and the evening was divided
between work and recreation. I frequented those salons
by preference in which I was sure to find pleasant
conversation, convinced that such conversation tends to
sharpen the intelleet, correet the judgment, and is a source
of instruction to those who know how to keep it from
degenerating into mere babbling.” It was at this period
that he made the aequaintance of Pozzo di Borgo, then
employed as a secret agent by the English Cabinet, and
remarkable at a later time for the rancorous hatred he
bore to Napoleon; of the Prince de Ligne; of the
Princess Licchtenstein ; and of others moving in the same
circle. Still maintaining his attitude of reserve on the
subject of official employment, he yet occasionally visited
the Forcign Minister, Baron Thugut, and somctimes
waited on the Emperor. The latter lost no opportunity
of rallying him on what he termed his “ indolence.” On
one oceasion, however, just before the retirement of
Thugut in 1801, I'rancis said to him: “You live as I
should be very happy to do in your place. 1lold yourself
ready for my orders; that is all I expect from you at
present.”

The retirement of Thugut in 1801 in eonscquence
of the conclusion of the Peace of Lunéville, rendered
necessary a complete redistribution in the personnel of
the Linperial diplomatie service.  One of the secondary
posts, that of Dresden, was offered to Metternich, with
the alternative of that of Copenhagen, or of remaining at
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Lome as Minister for Bohemia in the German Reichs-
tag. After some consideration, Metternich, warning the
Emperor that he submitted to his commands to enter a
sphere for which he believed he had no vocation, selected
Dresden, as, “being one stage on the way to Berlin o
St. Petersburg,” it was “a post of observation which might
be made useful.”

Nominated in January, 1801, Metternich did not join
his new post till the close of that ycar. Though peace
nominally prevailed, a considerable agitation, based on
apprchension regarding the future, pervaded all the great
countries of Kurope. Under the First Consulship of
Napoleon the French Republic existed only in name ; the
German Empire was visibly approaching its dissolution ;
the violent death of the Emperor Paul, in March of that
year, had increased the general tension. At Dresden,
however, none of this anxiety was felt. The city, and
especially the Electoral Court, formed a contrast to the
universal agitation. “To judge from this Court alone,”
wrote Metternich, “one might have believed the world
was standing still” <If etiquette, costume and precise
regulations, could be a solid foundation for a kingdom,
Electoral Saxony would have been invulnerable.”

As a post of obscrvation on the Northern Courts,
Metternich found that he had not exaggerated the value
of the embassy to Dresden. He kept his eyes and cars
open, and was thus able to transmit to his Court exact
intelligence of all important matters that were discussed.
The Elector, Frederick Augustus, appears to have im-
pressed him as a man of solid ability, better fitted, how-
ever, for a peaceful era than for the stormy times in which
lic lived.  On the whole, we may gather that the period
of about eighteen months passed in Dresden by the
budding diplomatist was a period usefully employed, and
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that the experience acquired there was helpful to him in
his subsequent carcer.

That he gave satisfaction to his own Court was proved
by his nomination, in the summer of 1803, to the embassy
of Berlin. Leaving Dresden, he proceeded first to
Ochsenhausen, to take possession of the abbey-lands.
which the Emperor had granted to his father as a com-
pensation for the hereditary estates on the left bank of
the Rhine confiscated by the French Republic ; thence to
Vienna ; and thence, after a short stay, at the end of the
year, to Berlin.

The situation in Berlin during the year 1804 required
the exercise, on the part of the representative of Austria,
of tact and judgment of no ordinary character. This
was cspecially the case when, in May of that year,
Napoleon was proclaimed Emperor of the French.  I'rance
was at war with England, and, whilst threatening an
invasion of that country, was preparing for that
Continental struggle which no man more than the
Emperor knew to be inevitable. Ingland, at the same
time, was doing her utmost to stir up Austria and
Prussia to join her in the struggle she was making, as
her statcsmen Dbelieved, against the subjugation of
Europe. She had found at Vienna willing listeners ;
sovercign, ministers, and people in full sympathy with
her ; eager to begin, whilst anxious to obtain the co-
operation of Prussia. At Berlin, however, the task was
not so casy. There, there were two parties—the one, the
patriotic party, led by Hardenberg, anxious for the Anglo-
Austrian alliance, which, they forcsaw, could alone save
the country and Europe from the domination of oue man
the other, under the inspiration of Count Ilaugwitz,
desirous of maintaining a sclfish neutrality, partly from:
fear of Napolcon, partly from the conviction that by con-
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niving at the despoiling of Austria, they would increase
the relative importance of Prussia, and might even, per-
chance, reccive the bone of Hanover as a reward for their
neutrality. Such was the situation in Europe, and such
the state of parties at Berlin, when Metternich arrived in
that capital.

The task entrusted to Metternich was naturally that of
convincing the Prussian Court that its interests would best.
be served by a cordial co-operation with England and
Austria.  And not alone with those two powers. The
Emperor Alexander, anxious to take a great part in the
affairs of continental Europe, and desirous to wipe out the
recollection of the disastrous result of the last campaign
of Suwarrow, was bound, heart and soul, to Austria. He
was now, by means of his ambassador, urging the Court
of Berlin to declare itself.  Attributing, after a time, the
long hesitations of that Court to want of energy on the
part of his representative, he endcavoured to persuade
Metternich to supply by his advocacy the deficiencies of that
official. Tired out, at last, by the continued evasiveness of
the language employed by the Prussian cabinet, Alexander,
to force its hand, pushed on his army to the fronticrs of
Prussia.  Still the King vacillated. Nor could the pro-
spect of an interview with the Czar bring him to a decision.
War with Austria had by this time broken out, and the
catastrophe of Ulm, though they knew it not, was impend-
ing. The utmost that could be wrung from the King, in
reply to the urgent solicitations of the Czar, at this period,
October 6, 1805, was the assurance that hc had offered
the neutrality of Prussia to the belligerent Powers, and
that he should consider himself at war with the Power
which should violate that neutrality. Ifow, in making
this declaration, the King’s mind was acted upon by dread
of Napolcon, was proved by the fact that when, a few
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hours later, he heard that the French army, to outflank
the Austrian army concentrated at Ulm, had violated the
territory of Amnspach, he did not declare war against
France, but contented himself with informing the Czar
that the frontiers of his kingdom were open to him.

On receiving  this message Alexander set out for
Potsdam. Then began, not only the negotiations for the
entrance of Prussia into the alliance existing between the
two Imperial Courts; but, what 15 more germane to this
narrative, the intimacy, speedily inereasing to friendship,
between the Emperor Alexander and Metternich.  From
this period, in fact, dates the mfluence which, after the
fall of Napoleon, the Austrian statesman exercised, with
the most important results, on the mind of Alexander.

Never was more necessary the exercise of that supreme
tact which 1t is given only to a very few to possess. Ior
whilst, on the one hand, Metternich bad to impose a curb
upon, to moderate the impetuosity of, Alexander ; he had,
on the other, to meet the tortuous suggestions of Count
Yaugwitz and the French party. In his interesting
autobigraphical 1memoirs he states very frankly how he
was besct. “Iromn the first moment,” he writes, “the
Emperor and I fell under the ill-will of the Prussian
negotiators.  With ill-concealed anger they resorted to
every imaginable pretext to protract the arrangements
which, in face of the calamitous circumstances of the war
on the Danube, grewnore and more urgent.” At length,
after a too great delay, the King of Prussia, yiclding
apparently to the arguments and representations of
Alexander and of Metternieh, signed on November 3rd a
treaty of alliance with Russia and Austria. Dut, as if he
thought that he had gone too far, the King, always
temporising, despatched Count augwitz to the French
head-quarterz, avowedly to inform Napoleon that such a
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treaty had been signed, and that Prussia would incvitably
join the allies unless the French armies should halt in their
victorious carcer. In cntrusting this communication to a
partisan of the Irench alliance the King might feel
tolerably secure that circumstances would be allowed to
decide as to whether it should be delivered or withheld.

So, indecd, it happened. ITaugwitz, who delayed pur-
posely his departure for eight days beyond the time agreed
upon, joined Napoleon at Driinn, beyond Vienna. Once
in the presencc of Napoleon, Ilaugwitz did not dare
to deliver the message in its entirety, but gave to it a
character purcly complimentary. Napoleon, not deceived,
sent back Iaugwitz to Vienna, there to wait events.
Those events were precipitated by the rashness of
Alexander, who pressed forward to Austerlitz, and there
met his fate—for the time. Maugwitz presented himself
to the Emperor on his return as a conqueror to Viecnna—
and offered him his congratulations. To the Emperor’s
sareastic question as to whether, if he had returned
defeated he would have spoken to him of the friendship
of the King, his master, IJaugwitz made no reply. He
bargained, however, for the cession of lanover, and this,
Nupolcon, to embroil Prussia with England, and to under-
mine the bases on which the German Empire rested, not
unwillingly granted.

Thus it happened that the labours of Metternich at
Derlin were to a great degree fruitless. Thanks to the
vacillation of the King of Prussia, and to the duplicity of
1Taugwitz, the treaty negotiated by the Emperor Alexander
and himself proved powerless to change the current of
events. But, for himself, the qualities he had displayed
had not been displayed in vain. They procured for him,
as I have said, the lifelong friendship and esteem of the
Czar. Mis own sovereign, too, the Emperor Francis, had
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noted with approval the tact, the talent, and the quick
decision, displayed by his envoy under circumstances of
great difficulty.  He marked that approval by conferring
upon the young Minister the Grand Cross of St. Stephen,
and by nominating him to represent the Austrian Empire
at the Court of Europe which required, above all others, in
an ambassador, the possession of acutencss, tact, firmness,
.and penetration—the Court of the Emperor Napoleon.
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CHAPTER IL

THE EMBASSY TO PARIS.
1806-1809.

'THE battle of Austerlitz had been followed by the Peace
of Pressburg. That treaty ceded to Italy, Venetia ; the
principality of Eichstadt, part of the Bishopric of Passau,
the city of Augsburg, Tirol, the possessions of Austria in
Suabia, in Brisgau, and Ortenau, to Bavaria and
Wirtemberg, the rulers of which were created kings.
The Peace of Pressburg, in fact, completed the dissolution
of the old German Empire, and secured for France a pre-
dominating influence in central and southern Germany.
At Vienna, it followed naturally that the Ministers
who had instigated a war which resulted in so disastrons
a peace should no longer hold office. Count Stadion.
then, who had been ambassador at St. Petersburg, was
directed to replace Count, Colloredo at the Foreign Office :
and, at the express instance of the Emperor Alexander,
Metternich was ordered to succeed Stadion. Ior the
embassy at Paris, Count Philip Cobenzl had been named,
but Napolcon objected to him, and had indicated
Metternich as the man most suitable to strengthen the
relations he was anxious to see established between the
two Empires. Metternich learned this change in his
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destination only when he had reached Vienna on his way
to take up, as he believed, the embassy at St. Petersburg.

To himself the change was most unwelcome. It came
upon him, he tells us, “like a thunderbolt.” We cannot
wonder. The relations between himself and the Czar
had been of a most cordial character, and he had looked
forward with real pleasurc to a residence in a country
with the sovereign of which he had so many sympathies.
Tor, alike at this time and always, Metternich hated the
French Revolution and all its offspring. e regarded
Napolcon, he tells us, as its ¢ incarnation.” Alexander,
at that time, completely shared his views on this point.
He had not been discouraged by Austerlitz; not even
sufficiently humiliated to rccognise as an Emperor and
an equal a man whom he regarded only as a Corsican
adventurer. All that, and more, were to come. DBut, in
the beginning of 1800, the Czar still employed the con-
temptuous utterances regarding the great Emperor which
the jackals, who for ten ycars grovelled before him, used
after his fall.

Well, indeed, might Metternich, holding the views he
did, and animated by the prejudices which influenced him
all his life, shrink from the embassy to Paris. But the
sacrifice of his personal wishes had become a necessity.
Though Austria had been vanquished, she had not been
wholly discouraged. So much, in war, depends on
fortune, and the Emperor Francis felt that fortune had
been unkind.  The sclection of Mack to be Commander-
in-chicf had been a mistake such as would never be
repeated.  Then, from a military point of view, the Czar
had been the evil genius of the campaign. TFrancis had
always urged that no battle should be fought at Auster-
litz, but that the Irench should be lured on to the
extremitics of the Lmpire, when an attempt should be
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made to destroy their long line of communication; but
Alexander would insist on fighting. Though the allies
had been beaten, then, the Austrian Court was not dis-
couraged.  All that they wanted was time—time to rally,
time to reorganise, time for recupcration; and Irancis
felt that he could most surely obtain that time by sending
to Paris as his ambassador a man agreeable to the Freneh
Emperor, and yet upon whose tact and knowledge of the
world he could thoroughly depend. When, therefore,
Napoleon expressed his desire to see Metternich at Paris,
Irancis, who knew Metternich well, very rcadily complied.
e received him on his arrival in Vienna with his usual
kindness ; praised him for his conduct in Berlin; and set
before him the necessity of accommodating himself to
what lie called his destiny, with expressions which made
it impossible for him to oppose his wishes.

But the soft words of his sovereign did not hide from
Metternich the difficulties which would await him at Paris,
Irance was still at war with England ; no peace had
been made with Russia; a very guarded conduct was
necessary for the Austria whose interests he would
represent.  Then, too, there was Prussia, grovelling at
the feet of Napoleon ; rejoicing in her heart of hearts at
the humiliation of her ancient rival; and yet dreading
lest the next blow should fall onher. If, argued Metter-
nich, hostilities might be averted till Austria could recoup
lierself, then all might go well 5 if not, the next state of
Germany would be worse than that then existing.  Suill
he did not despair. IIe had belief in himself : belief in
lis power to win the confidence of others, without betraying
lis own sccret views. Ide would enjoy, morcover, the
opportunity—golden to a cold, determined nature such
as he possessed—to study the character of the man who
held in his hand the fate of Europe, and to keep his

c
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master well informed as to the chances which might:
befall.

The new ambassador quitted Vienna for his destination
in July, 1806. At Strasburg he was dclayed for a time,
as Napolcon was then endeavouring to arrange terms of”
peace with Russia, and, apparently, he did not wish that
Metternich should arrive wntil the Russian agent should
have departed.  Consequently it was not till the first
week in August that he reached Paris. The first im-
portant personage he called upon was the Minister for
Forcign Affairs, the courtly Talleyrand.  The impression
he received of that statesman was favourable. He found
bim courtcous and inclined to meet the views he put
forward. TFor he at once asserted his own position,
explaining to the minister, when he spoke of his desire
to cultivate friendly relations with Austria, what the
Emperor Francis understood by friendly relations,
“which,” he added, “must not be confounded with
submission.”

This interview Metternich himself calls the beginning-
of his public life. ¢ All that had gone before,” h(, writes,
“might have shown the mdepcnduxcc of my character.
As anan of principles, I could not and I wonld not bend
when it came to the point of defending them. Within a
short space of time destiny had placed me face to face
withi the man who at this epoch ruled the affairs of the
world; I felt it my duty, and I had the courage, never to
offer to mere circumstance a sacrifice which I conld not
defend to my conscienee both as a statesman and a
private individual. The voiee of conscience I followed ;
and 1 do not think it was a good inspiration of Napolcon’s
which called me to functions which gave me the oppor-
tunity of appreciating his excellence, but also the possi-
bility of discovering the faults which at last led him to
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ruin, and freed Europe from the oppression under which
it languished.”

Metternich was right.  Napolcon never made a greater
mistake than when he invited to his Court this most
implacable enemy. Yet there are few sentences in the
Autobiography of Metternich which reveal his character
more completely than that which Lhave just quoted. The
intense sclf-appreciation ; the allusion to the voice of
conscience, as if in hin the voice of conscience had
been other than an intense desire to rid Europe of the
incarnation of the hated revolution. Those who follow
his career will not fail to recognise that from 1806
to 1814 this was the one aim, the solitary purpose,
to which the Austrian ambassador, more Austrian in
this respect than his own sovercign, directed all his
efforts. That aim never left him. It was with him
alike when intriguing with the Russian ambassador and
with Talleyrand, and when apparently enjoying the
friendly conversation of Napoleon and the Empress. At
the Court of the Emperor, whom he never ceased to regard
as a ‘parveny,” he had made himself liked—only that he
might enjoy better opportunitics of studying, in order
to find the weak points in, the character of the man who
was in it the prominent figure.

Metternich was extremely well received at Paris, alike
by Napoleon and the members of the Imperial family,
and in general society. Young, with a physiognomy
which might well be called distinguished, with the
courtly manners of the old régime, talking well and
possessing the wit which is nowhere more appreciated
than in T'rance, having, besides, a special interest in
making himself agreeable, he could scarcely fail to make
good his footing. His real opinion regarding Napoleon
breaks out repeatedly in his Autobiography. He read

02
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him, he tells us, at their first interview. The fact™ that
Napoleon kept on his hat on the occasion when Metter-
nich presented his credentials ; that, possessing, as the
Austrian ambassador records, a short broad figure, and
dressing negligently, the Emperor should have endea-
voured to make an imposing effect, “combined,” he
writes, “to wecaken in me the fecling of grandeur
naturally attaching to the idea of a man before whom the
world trembled.” This first impression, he tells us, was
never entirely effaced from his mind.

What follows is mere curious still. The impression
thus formed, adds the same authority, helped to show him
the man as he was, “behind the masks with which be
knew how to cover himself. In his freaks, in his fits of
passion, in his brusque interpellations, I saw prepared
scencs, studied and caleulated to produce a certain effect
on the person to whom he was speaking.”

When Metternich tells us that he discovered all this,
and imbibed an impression regarding Napoleon which
was never entirely cffaced, from what passed at their first
interview, we turn with some curiosity to the recorded
account of that interview. We are fortunately able to
present that record on the authority of one to whom
Metternich himself would have offered no objection, for it
is his own story. “I presented myself to Napoleon,” he
writes, “without delivering an address at the first
audience I had at St. Cloud, as was the custom of my
collengues. I confined myself to stating that as, in
accordance with his own wishes, I had been chosen to
represent the Emperor of Austria at his Court, I should
strive on cvery occasion to strengthen the good relations
between the two empires on that basis upon which alone a
lasting peace could be established between independent
states. Napolecon answered me in the same simple style,
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and our subsequent personal relations took their tonc
from this first meeting.” This is the ¢ unvarnished”
account.  The other represents the version compiled
in later years, based upon the violent antipathy inspired
by the incarnation of the Revolution in the mind of a
representative of the ideas which prevailed prior to 1789.

The same spirit is displayed by Metternich when he
attempts to describe, and to ridicule when describing, the
hospitalities of Fontainebleau. ¢ T'he aspect of the Court
at Fontainebleau,” he wrote in 1807, “ eould not but offer
many objeets of curiosity to an impartial observer. This
Court sometimes endeavoured to go baek to the old forms,
and sometimes rejected them as beneath the dignity of
the moment. The Emperor hunted forty miserable deer
which had been brought from Ilanover and other parts of
Germany to refill ‘a forest twenty leagucs round, because
the kings too had their fixed days for hunting. Ie did
not reaily care for the sport, exeept for the violent exercise,
which suited his health; and, besides, he merely went at
full spced, right and left, through the forest without
regularly following the hunt.” It was, in faet, in the eyes
of the aristocratic Austrian, who had imbibed his ideas
in the socicty of the émigrés, the Court of a parvenu.

It is easy to understand why, with the feelings which
animated him, Metternich was anxious that Napoleon
should not wage war with Prussia.  Austria lay disarmed
and bleeding, yet secretly determined to prepare to use
the first fitting occasion to reeover what she had lost.
Prussia, full of resources, and still possessing the prestige
which IFrederick II. had won for her, was to be humbled
before Austria could reeover. Such was the Imperial
programme, and Napoleon set out to esceute it just two
months after the arrival of Metternich in Paris. During
the war, then, which ended in the dismemberment of
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Prussia, Metternich rcmained in the French capital,
noting, he says, the impression which the news of
Napoleon’s victories produced there. lIle states that the
impression was certainly not one of joy; that it was
simply one of satisfaction that France had escaped the
consequences, and that her internal peace was not en-
dangered. When, at last, Napolcon returned, “intoxi-
cated with victory,” from the banks of the Niemen to
Paris, and all the representatives of Forcign Powers
crowded to his reception to welcome him, Metternich
records how they all had in turn to hear unpleasant things
from the mouth of the conqueror. 1leadds: “I came off
best, although,” with respect to certain negotiations
regarding the boundary between Austria and Italy which
had just been concluded—¢ the feeling of Napoleon
betrayed itself in a way anything but satisfactory to the
wishes of Austria.”

Trom that moment dates the study of the character
of Napoleon which Metternich used with so much effect
subscquently to 1809. Ile had many opportunities, for,
as I have said, he could make himself more than agree-
able, and Napolcon, enjoying his society, revealed himself
to him. Recognising, as he records, all the great qualities
of Napolcon, his vivid intellect, his elear and preeise con-
ceptive power, his love of action when his resolution was
taken, the directness of his aims and views, and yet his power
to modify them at any given moment, his marvellous in-
sight, the abstract justice of his mode of arguing, the fact
that he was never rooted to his own opinions when reason
could be shown on the other side, never influenced in public
affairs by affection or by hatred ; he was keenly alive, on
the other hand, to his failings. Ile found him full of
faults; a gambler on a great scale, thinking of nothing
but to advance, reckoning alike on the weaknesses and
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«errors of his adversaries. It was the abuse of the last-
named habit in which Metternich recognised, even during
the time of his cmnbassy to Paris, the charmed weapon
which, if Austria would but hold herself in readiness, could
be used with deadly eftect against the Revolution and its
living incarnation ; which Austria did attempt to use in
1809, coming much nearer to success than the casual
reader would suppose ; and which she did wield with
triumphant result in 1813-4.

The triumph of Napolcon over Prussia had culminated
in the Peace of Tilsit and an agreement for future action
with the Czar. Almost from the day of his return to
Paris the Emperor began to set in motion the design he
had alrcady conceived of replacing the Bourbons of Spain
by a member of his own family. The observations which
Metternich had been able to make at this period by means
of his intimacy with the several ambassadors at Paris had
convinced him that, to use his own phrase, “ France had not
one friend in Turope.” e did not foresee, no one at the
moment foresaw, the extent to which the projected occupa-
tion of Spain would swallow up the aterial, and weaken
the moral, resources of the conqueror.  But, in his hicart he
welcomed the new departure as likely to give to Austria
a larger and less serutinised field for her preparations than
that which she could enjoy whilst Napoleon was in Paris
watching her every move. As time went on, and the
nature of the abyss—¢the great Spanish ulcer,” as he
called it at St. 1lelena—which Napolcon was preparing
for himself became clearer and clearer, the hopes which
Metternich had begun to entertain became stronger, the
preparations of Austria more decided.  First, there came
as a great encouragement, the news of the catastrophe of
Baylen, 2Cth of July, 1808.  Surely if a French army, com-
manded by a general of whom Napoleon had so high an
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opinion that he was about to bestow upon him the staff of
a Marshal, could be forced to surrender by the despised
Spaniards, there must be hope for Austria. Napoleon
was travelling in the south of Irance when he heard
of Baylen. He had reccived shortly before warnings
regarding the intentions of Austria, and, knowing that the
news of Baylen would stimulate her to press forward her
preparations, he was very ecager to return at once to
Paris, and demand explanations from Metternich. Dut
he had announced that after visiting the southern depart-
ments he would proceed to La Vendée, and he was un-
willing to make a change in his programme which might
be attributed to anxiety. He therefore continued his
journcy to Rochefort and Rochelle, to Nantes and
Saumur; was received everywhere with the greatest
enthusiasm. Thence he hurried to Paris, arriving there
on the eve of his féte, the night of the 14th of August.

The next day he received, with great ceremony, the
diplomatic corps. VWhat happened at that reception has
been recorded by Metternich in his Autobiography in the
following acrid style :

¢ Just before noon the diplomatic corps was conducted
to the audience chamber. I took my usual place in the
circle, having Count Tolstoy on my right, the rest of the
diplomatic corps being arranged in a semicircle, in the
centre of which was the Emperor.  After some minutes
of unusual silence Napoleon advanced towards me with
great solemnity.  Ile stopped two feet in front of me and
addressed me in a loud voice and pompous tone: < Well,
Sir Ambassador, what does the Lmperor, your master,
want—docs he intend to call me back to Vienna?’ This
address did not disconcert me; 1 answered him calmly,
and in no less elevated tones. Our conversation, the
longer it lasted, took, on Napoleon's side, more and more

a
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the character of a public manifestation, Napoleon raising
his voice, as he always did when he had the double end in
view of intimidating the person he was addressing, and of
making an effect on the rest of Lis hearers. I did not
alter my tone, and met his worthless arguments with the
weapon of irony. I'rom time to time Napoleon appcaled
to Count Tolstoy as a witness ; but when he observed that
the Count preserved an unbroken silence, he turned round,
breaking off in the middle of a sentence, and strode to the
Chapel without completing the round of the circle. This
scene lasted more than half an hour.”

The termination of the incident is curious, especially if
it be remembered that the instinets of Napoleon had led
him to a conclusion which was perfectly accurate, though
he did not possess the proofs. ¢ As soon,” continued
Metternich, “as Napolcon had left the audience-chamber,
all my colleagues thronged round me, to congratulate me
on having, as they said, given the Emperor a lesson. A
few hours afterwards I went to the hotel of Count Chain-
pagny, then Minister of Foreign Affairs, who gave a great
banquet in honour of the day. On my entrance he said
to e he was ordered by his master, the Emperor, to assure
me that the scene at the audience had nothing personal
in it ; and that his master’s intention had been merely to
explain the position. I assured the minister that I, too,
put the same construction on the incident; and, for my
part, did not regret that the Emperor had given me an
opportunity to explain before assembled Europe what the
monarch whom I had the honour to represent wished, and
what he did not wish. ¢ Europe,” I continued, “will be
able to judge on which side reason and right are to be
found.” Champagny made no answer.

Before I ask my readers to aceept this narrative, I must
beg them to recollect that it is the narrative of one of the
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interested parties ; that it was written long after the date
of the events purported to be recorded, and that, inasmuch
as it exalts the narrator, and consigns to a ridiculous
position the great master of legions, it bears improbability
on its face. Fortunately we have another, and certainly
a more probable account of the same interview, written at
the time by the French Minister for Foreign Affairs, and
abridged for his readers by a historian who has occupied
the highest position in his own country. The memoirs of
Metternich are of great importance to history, for they
are the memoirs of an eye-witness. DBut, inasmuch as
many of those memoirs were written after he had
triumphed ; after his chief enemy had disappeared ; as,
moreover, there is much confusion in their arrangement,
and there are abundant proofs, one of which Ishall shortly
notice, of their having been edited ; especially, moreover,
as they invariably glorify their author and depreciate the
several adversaries of the author ;—it is only right that the
traditional grain of salt should be at hand when they are
perused ; that, whenever opportunity offer, they should
be tested. Now, I have set before the reader the account
given by Metternich of this famous interview; I append
that recorded by M. Thicrs, based on the memoir of
Champagny above referred to.

« Although Napoleon,” he writes,* “resting on Russia,
would have nothing to fear from the Continent, yet the
determination to transport a portion of the grand army
from the Vistula to the Ibro was so grave; the displace-
ment of his forces from the north to the south might so
embolden his encemies, that he was resolved, before doing
it, to force Austria to explain herself, to kuow exactly
the view he ought to take of her. If she wanted war, he
would prefer to make it immediately, to make it with his

% Iligtoire du Consulat et de U Empire, tome ix., p. 253.
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full strength, without invoking even the aid of the Russians,
to finish for ever with her, to fall back then from the
Danube to the Pyrences to subdue the Spaniards, and to
throw the English into the sea. But this was only an
extreme measure. Ile preferred not to have to wage a
new war. . . . Thus it was that, without wishing to pro-
voke Austria, he was bent on obtaining from her the
clearest explanations.

“Receiving the representatives of the Powers as well as
the principal officials of the Government, on the 15th
August, he scized the occasion to have with M. de
Metternich, not a passionate, aggressive explanation, such
as he had had with Lord Whitworth, and which had led
to war with England, but an explanation, calm, quiet, yet
peremptory.  Heshowed himself courteous, even gracious,
with the ministers of all the Court, engaged with M. de
Tolstoy, although he had to complain of his military
follics ; friendly, frank, but pressing with M. de Metter-
nich. Without attracting the attention of those present
by the louduess of his voice, he yet spoke in a manner to
be heard by some of them, especially by M. de Tolstoy.
‘Do you want to make war on us, or to frighten us?”’
he said to M. de Metternich. D. de Metternich having
declared that his cabinet desired neither the one nor the
other, Napoleon replied at once, in a calm but positive
tone: ¢Then why your armaments which agitate you,
which agitate Iurope, which compromise peace, and ruin
your finances?’  Receiving the assurance that these arma-
ments were purely defensive, Napoleon set himself, as
profoundly cognisant of the circumstances, to prove to
M. de Metternich that they were of quite another
character. ¢ If your armaments,” he said to him,

"¢ were, as you pretend, purcly defensive, they would be less hurried.
When one wants to create a new organisation, one takes time, one



28 LIFE OF PRINCE METTERNICIH.

does not rush at it, because one does better that which one does slowly.
But one does not form magazines, one does not order the 2ssembling of
troops, onc does not buy horses, especially artillery horses.  Your
army is nearly 400,000 strong ; your militia number probably almost as
many. If I were to imitate you, I should have to add 400,000 men to
my cffeetive, and that would be a senscless armament. I have no
need to call out so many. Less than 200,000 conscripts will suflice to
maintain my grand army on a formidable footing, and to send 100,000
old troops into Spain. I shall not then follow your ¢xample, for in
that casc it would soon become necessary to arm women and chil-
dren, and wo should revert to a state of barbarism. But, meanwhile,
your finances suffer, your exchange, already low, is getting lower, and
your commerce is stopped. And for what? Iave I asked anything
of you? Have I laid claim to a single one of your provinces? The
trcaty of Pressburg has smoothed all differences between the two-
empires ; the word of your masier, in the interview we had together,
ought to have terminated all dispute betwecen the two sovercigns.
There remained only some arrangements to make on the subject of
Draunau, which remained in onr hands; on the subject of the Isonzo,
the road ihrough the valley of which (Thalweg) had not been
sufficiently determined, but which has been settled by the convention
of Fontaincbleau. I ask nothing of you, I desire nothing of you but
friendly and peaceful relations. Are there any difficulties—is thero
one single difficulty—between us? Let me know what it is, that it.
may be settled at once.”

“M. de Metternich having again affirmed that his.
Government was not dreaming of attacking France, and
alleging as a proof that it had ordered no movement of
troops, Napoleon replied to him at once, with the same
calmness but with the same firmness, that he was in ervor ;.
that troops had been assembled in Galicia and in Bohemia,
on the borders of Silesia, in face of the quarters of the
Trench army ; that these massings could not be contested ;
that the immediate consequence would be to oppose to
them other massings not less considerable ; that instead of
completing the demolition of the strong places in Silesia,
he was going, now, to place some of them in a state of
repair, to arm and provision them, to call on the con-
tingents of the Confederation of the Rhine, and to
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replace cverything on a war footing.  “T shall not allow
them to take me by surprise, you know very well,” he

added,

“I shall be always ready. You count, perhaps, on the Emperor of
Russia, and you deceive yourselves, 1 am sure of his adhesion, of the
formal disapprobation he has manifested on the subject of your arma-
ments, and of the resolution which he will take under the circumstances.
If I had any doubt, I would at onee wage war on you and on him, for
I do not intend to allow the situation of affairs on the Continent to bo
«t all doubtful. If I confine mysclf to simple precautions, it is because
I am absolutely confident regarding the affairs of the Continent,
because I am completely so with respect to the Imperor of Russia.
Do not then indulge in the belief that the oceasion is a good one to
attack France; that would be a grave mistake on your part. You do
not want war, M. de Metternich ; I believe that of you; I belicve
it of your Emperor, aud of the enlightened men in your country. But
the German aristoeracy, discontented with the changes which have
come about, is filling Germany with its hatreds. You allow yourselves
to be touched ; you communicate your emotion to the masscs, pushing
them to arm. By degrees, arming and arming, you arrive at an extra-
ordinary situation, impossible to endure long ; and, by little and little,
you will be led to the point when a ecrisis, a solution, becomes
desirable, and this crisis, this solution, can only be war. Moral nature
and physical nature alike, when they arrive at the pent-up period
which preeedes the storm, fecl the need of an explosion to clear the
air, and to bring back calm. That is what I fear from your present
conduct. I repeat to you,” added Napoleon, “I do not want anything
from you; I ask for nothing but pcace, peaceful and sure relations
with you; but if you continue to make preparations, I also shall make
such as will cnsure the superiority of my arms to as great an extent as
in preceding campaigns, aud then, to preserve peace, we shall have
brought about war.”

The reader will not fail to notice that whilst there is
not a word in this account inconsistent with the account
given by Metternich himself, there is absent from this the
impression which the other conveys that the attitude of
Metternich made the Emperor appear ridiculous. The
circumstances of the time lend credit to the idea that the
French rccord is absolutely true.  Austria was resolved
at that very time to take advantage of the first tarn in the
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fortunes of Napolcon. Napolecon instinetively knew it.
Ile was on the eve of starting for Erfurt to hold there
with the Kmperor Alexander the interview which should
consolidate the alliance. From Erfurt he would proceed
in person to Spain, to finish with the risings and the
inglish intervention in that country. 'To attain such a
result he would naturally diminish largely his garrisons in
Germany; and he foresaw, as Metternich and the Em-
peror Franeis foresaw, that his own departure, and the
diminution of the army in Germany, would give a Power,
whose pride he had lowered, and who was thirsting for
revenge, opportunitics which she might not be able to let
pass. Therefore on this solemm occasion, the day after
his return from La Vendde, a month only before his
departure for Erfurt, on his way, so to say, to Spain,
Napoleon solemnly warned Metternich, in the presence
of the whole diplomatic corps, that he was thoroughly
acquainted with the dispositions of the Austrian court,
and that a continuance of a policy such as that it was
pursuing could only lead to war.

Writing in his Autobiography of this period, Metternich
admits and justifics the course then pursued by Austria ;
and thus, in spite of himsclf, justifies also the course
adopted by Napoleon at this famous interview. Telling
us that under the weight of the wnhappy issue of the war
of 1805 Austria had collapsed ; that the Confederation of
the Rhince had taken the place of the German Empire;
that Tirol had been given to Bavaria, and that the duchy
of Warsaw had been pushed in between Russia and
Austria; that the peace of Tilsit had brought about an
alliance between Russia and France, “ the twofold object
of which was the silent assent of the former Power to the
attacks of the latter, and the partition of the Ottoman
Empire between the two, adjusted on the supposition of
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its impending fall,” he adds this confession: “ Austria,
thercfore, was not in a position in which she could possibly
maiutain herself.”

Then pecps out the fear, which subsequent events
proved to have been utterly unsubstantial, but which
pervaded the Court of Vienna, and inspired all its action :
¢ Napoleon was so eonvinced of it that he looked upon
Austria as a prize in prospect for one of his new German
allics” The justification of Napoleon’s warning of the
15th August follows :

“Not only, then, was the renewal of war in the nature of things, but
it was for our Empire an absolute condition of its existence. The
question was to imy mind settled. But the points which remained,
and, in my view, required ripc consideration, were, the choice of the
right moment for beginning the war, and the settling of the plan of
operation.”

Here we have the keynote to the policy of Metter-
nich during the entire period of his embassy to Paris.
It was to cover, to conceal, to hide from view, the
preparations for war made by Austria ; to foment, as we
shall see later on, discontent and intrigue against the
French Emperor in Paris ; to knit friendly and confiden-
tial relations with foreign ministers, notably, as we shall
also sce, with the Russian ambassador, for the same
purposc; to watch for the most favourable opportunity
for the commencement of hostilities,

Napoleon reached Erfurt the 27th September. The
Court of Vienna was represented there by Baron Vincent.
The Russian ambassador at Paris, Count Tolstoy, whose
sympathies were strongly allicd to those of Metternich,
went thither also to meet his sovereign. Metternich,
whose repeated solicitation to be allowed to accompany
Napolcon had been refused, remained at Paris. From
that city he kept up a correspondence with his friends at
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Erfurt, Tolstoy and Vineent. These, not well informed
themselves, responded as best they could. But, cither
their reports were faulty, or the conclusions which he
drew from them did no credit to his prescience. e de-
clared his belief that the interview was “a trap laid for
the Russian monarch on the part of the French Emperor.”
The “trap,” if laid at all, was laid, not by Napolcon, but
by Alexander. It was he who, in his many conversations
with the I'rench ambassador at St. Petersburg, M. de
Caulaincourt, first expressed his ardent desire. for a fresh
interview as soon as possible, pour nous entendre, ct
maitriser U Tiurope.” *

Despite all his cfforts Metternich was unable to dis-
cover the seerets of the conference at Erfurt.  Four persons
alone were present at the political discussions which had
taken place there: Napoleon and his Minister for Forcign
Affairs, M. de Champagny; Alexander and the Chan-
cellor of the Empire, M. de Romanzoff. To the Austrian
minister, Baron Vineent, no confidences were made, and
when he complained, he was told that as Austria was
arming, for a purpose which she declined to explain, it
was impossible to take her into the confidence of two
monarchs of whom she might at any moment deelare
herself the enemy. It may safely be concluded, then,
that during the continuance of the conference, Metternich
obtained no reliable cvidence regarding the matters
discussed there. On that subject his Autobiography is
virtually a blank.

Returning to him in Paris, we find that on the 30th of
that month he wrote to Count Stadion that

“the return of General de Vincent must have sccured for his Imperial
Majesty full information as to tho confercnee at Erfurt and the turn

* Tlicre, ix. 269,
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-which matters have taken there. I have the less hurried to send off
this courier that I might be able to tell your Execllency of the retam
of the Emperor to his capital and his departure for Bayonne, for which

place he started yesterday afternoon.”

Napoleon, in fact, had quitted Erfurt the 14th October ;
rcached St. Cloud the 18th ; made all his arrangements
to finish with Spain; and had set out for Bayonne the
29th.  Six days before this departure hie had received the
diplomatic corps, when, towards Metternich personally, he
had, by the admission of that ambassador, shown great
politeness.

During the Emperor’s absence Metternich renewed his
intimacy with Count Tolstoy, and his acquaintance with
.the Russian Chancellor, Count Romanzoff. The latter
he describes as “having been caught in the nets of
Napoleon,” which is as much as to say that he repre-
sented, at that period, the views of his master, the Czar.
Metternich became, too, intimate with Talleyrand, who,
towards the end of 1808, had begun to use his vast
faculty for iantriguc to undermine Napoleon—a purpose
he adhered to steadfastly till it had been accomplished.
It can casily be conceived how, in this man, Metternich
found a congenial spirit; how he revelled in the revela-
tions, true or false, which Talleyrand made to him of his
sceret interviews with Alexander at Erfurt. Recording
his impressions of an interview with that faithless in-
triguer at this period, Mectternich thus writes in a memo-
randum he drew up at the close of the year:

“The first day of his arrival (at Erfurt) Talleyrand presented
himsclf to the Emperor Alexander, and said to him the memorable
words: ¢ Sire, what arc you going to do here? It rests with you to
save lurope, and you can only accomplish this by resisting Napoleon,
The Freneh people are civilised, its sovercign is not; the sovereign of
Russia is civilised, and his people are not; it is thercfore for the
sovereign of Russia te be allied with the French people.’”

D
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In another interview he stated that he had said to him:
“The Rhine, the Alps, the Pyrences, are the conquests of
France. The rest are the conquests of the Emperor of
France, and we shall not hold them.” Talleyrand, who
had always been a supporter of the Austrian alliance,
further told Metternich, on his return to Paris from
Erfurt, < that sincc the battle of Austerlitz the relations
of Alexander with Austria have not been more favour-
able;” and, again, that Napolcon’s ambassador at St.
Petersburg, Caulaincourt, was entirely devoted to his—
Talleyrand’s—point of view, and had been instructed to
second all the steps of the Austrian ambassador, Prince
Schwarzenberg.

Full of hopes inspired by his conversation with this
man and others like him, who, whilst wearing the livery
of the Empire, were doing their best to undermine it,
Metternich applied for, and was granted, leave to proceed
to Vienna. Ilc arrived there the 10th November,* and
at once saw Count Stadion, the Minister for Foreign
Affairs.  Irom him he learnt that Austria was far nearer
to war than he had thought when he left Paris. Met-
ternich entered with his whole heart into the scheme, the
innermost secrets of which were then revealed to him.
The day following he saw the Kmperor. From a con-
versation which lasted several hours with Francis he came
to the conclusion that whilst there was no difference of
opinion between the Emperor and his Cabinet as to the
necessity of war—a conclusion which amply justified the
prevision of Napoleon—the former was not so decided as
the latter as to the right moment for waging it. The
interview ended with a request made by Francis to his
ambassador at the I'rench Court that he would examine

* In his Autobiography he states “10th of October,” but that is
evidently o misprint ; Mctlernich was in Paris all October.
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the question thoroughly, and assist the cabinet with his
advice.

Of all tasks this was the most congenial to Metternich.
Hating, as he did—we cannot too often repeat it—the
Revolution and its offspring, the Napoleonic system ;
belicving that that system was personified in onc man,
and that it required only his humiliation to cause it to
fall ; that, morcover, it lay in the power, and that it was
the duty, of re-strengthened Austria to ecnsure that
humiliation by ehoosing the opportune moment to strike
a blow with all her force ; he felt that the request of his
sovereign had vested him with power to decide the
selection of that opportunc moment. Irancis would no
longer resist the Cabinet if Metternich eould show that
the policy of the Cabinet was based on reason; the
Cabinet would yield to Franeis if Metternich eould lay
before it a justification of the views of Francis.

In this spirit Metternich began his task. It resulted
in thrce memoranda addressed to the Enperor Francis.
In these he entered very fully into the relative conditions
of France and Austria at the time, 1806, when he
procecded as ambassador to Paris; showed how the
Peacc of Pressburg had undermined the last rampart of
the independence of Europe, and caused even the people
of Germany to believe that Austria’s safety was only to
be found in a close alliance with Franee, or, at least, in a
system of the strictest neutrality ; that few statesmen had
then realised that ¢ friendship and neutrality ” are two
words void of meaning to Napoleon ; that the eampaigns
of 1806-7 proved, however, that the part of a neutral
was not less difficult to sustain than that of an enemy ;
that even before the close of that eampaign Napoleon
had prepared the destruction of Spainj that the resolu-
tion thus to destroy ¢ the oldest, the most tried, the most

D2
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disinterested of the allies, not only of Napoleon, but of
all preceding Governments of Irance, must prove to the
world that friendship is unavailing to preserve any
Power, if that Power cross the path of the Emperor of
the French.” * ,

This being the preamble, the demonstration that the
part of enemy, the part of ncutral, the part of friend,
were all equally powerless to save a continental nation
from the devouring ambition of Napoleon, Metternich
proceeded to argue that the only chance of being able to
shake off a yoke, which in any one of its threc diverse
forms was intolerable, was to watch the opportunity
when the dominant Power should be hampered by one of
the schemes into which its insatiable ambition would
certainly draw it, and then, having meanwhile prepared,
to strike. Such an opportunity, he procceded, was now
approaching.  “Providence determines the limits of
every usurping Power. Spain was called to save
Europe ; yet,” he added, ‘“these chances, too, would
have passed in vain, if we bad waited for them to occur
before taking up the only attitude proper to us.”

Proceeding to prove, then, that IFrance was tired of
fighting ; that the wars she was waging were not her
wars, but simply the wars of her ruler; that a strong
party was forming in Irance, guided by men of the
intellectual strength and calibre of Talleyrand and

* In the Autobiography of Prince Mctternich the memoirs from which
tho summary in the iext has been made are thus headed: “T'wo
memoirs by Metternich, drawn up in Vienna, December 4, 1808.”
Upon this I desire to remark that though it is possible they may havoer
been written in outline in that ycar, they contain internal evidence that
they were considerably touched up afterwards.  Thus, referring to the
action of Napolcon in establishing the two Spanish princes, Ferdinand
and Carlos, at Valengay, the property of Talleyrand, the memoir adds :

“where they lived at the expensc of the proprictor, till the day when
their House was restored.” Their House was restored in 1814, Yet.
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Fouchd, to oppose the destructive plans of the Emperor,
and to bring back peace on terms consistent with the
well-being of the nations of Europe; that the interview
at LErfurt had been arranged by Napoleon with the
express object of persuading the Czar to take active
measures against Austria whilst he and bis army should
be engaged in Spain; that, owing to the energetic
administration of the heads cf the departments, Austria
was now ready or nearly ready for war; that Napoleon’s
war with Spain had divulged the fact that he had but one
army, the Grande Armée, which had fought under his
command in 1805, 1806, 1807 ; that that army had
suffered serious losses in Spain, that, dedueting those
losses and the other troops he had sent to that country,
he could not put into the field against Austria more than
206,000 men, of whom only 107,000 would be French;
that the war with Spain would exhaust him far more than
his contests with Germany, the conditions of warfare in
that country being much less favourable to an invader;
Metternich inquired, only that he might answer the
inquiry in the negative, whether Napoleon could abandon
Spain in order that he might bring all his forces against
Austria. He arrived, then, at the conclusion that under
the most favourable circumstanees for Napoleon, his
forees would be weakened by more than 120,000 men
necessary for the occupation of the Peninsula; and that,
thus, “ the forees of Austria, so inferior to those of France
before the insurreetion in Spain, will be at least equal to
them after that event.”

as I have said, the memoir bears the date of 1808. Throughout the
Autobiography there runs a coincidence of advice with accomplished
cvents, which, with such a proof of editing as I have given, onght to
make the reader suspect the prescienco which Metternich claims for
himself.
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But it was not upon Anstria alone that her statesmen
at that period counted.  Count Stadion and his colleagues
reckoned much on the strong antagonism to French
domination which had risen, and was daily increasing, in
North Germany ; they were hopeful, too, that if they
could gain a first striking success in the field, Bavaria
might remember that she was, after all, a German power;
and that, under the same cirecumstances, even the Czar
might return to his old alliances. Metternich did not
share those views. Austria must, he said, indulge in no
illusions ; she must trust to herself alone. Ilis opinion
was shared by the illustrions prince to whom ustria was
about to entrust the command in chief of her armics, the
Archduke Charles.  Mecanwhile, the opposing ideas,
which I may call the ideas of the Cabinet, werc being
acted upon. It was only at the last moment that the
opinion of the Archduke and of Metternich prevailed,
and the military plans were modified accordingly. The
fatal result of divided counsels, and of completely
changing the military plan within a short time of the
breaking out of hostilities was manifested at the moment
when Austria, a fortnight too carly, decided the question
of peace or war, by seizing the person of the bearer of the
French despatches.

Metternich was engaged in stimulating the preparations
of Austria, wheninformation reached Vienna that Napoleon
had quitted his army when in pursuit of the Euglish, and
that he wason his way to Paris.  Knowing the speed at
which the Emperor travelled, and that his own absence
from Paris when Napoleon should arrive there might
precipitate matters, Metternich made immediate prepara-
tions to return thither. The winter was a severe oue,
Lut in spite of the rigour of the scason, he travelled day
and night, and reached Paris carly on the morning of the
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Ist January (1809). Napoleon had not arrived, but
the Empress held a reception, and this the Austrian
ambassador attended.  lle was cordially welcomed
by the several members of the Government — with
whom, as well, let it always be remembered, as with
the Imperial family, he was a great favourite—for his
return dissipated the apprehensions which some among
them had begun to feel regarding the cause of his
prolonged absence. Ile found public opinion in Paris
excited and rather depressed about Spain. An inter-
view which he had with the Yoreign Minister, M. de
Champagny, afforded him no information on any subject.
But, though the utterances of the minister were of the
vaguest character, Metternich could rcad under them the
carnest personal desire of Champagny for the main-
tenance of peace. In his despatch to Count Stadion,
dated a few days later, 11th January, however, he stated
that, from the frontiers of Austria to the centre of Paris,
he found but onc conviction prevailing, and that was that,
by the coming spring, at latest, Austria would take the
ficld against France. Those who thus reasoned, he
continucd, base their opinion on the fact that Napoleou
was occupied at a distance of 600 leagues from the
frontiers of Austria; that the greater part of his forces
were directed to that distant point; that Austria was
strong and ready for war; that Russia might be induced
to change her system, and join Austria; and that the
increasing impaticnce of French domination might lead
the North German people to follow the same course.

On the 16th January, Metternich saw Talleyrand.
The interview was long and interesting, leaving, as it did,
no doubt on the mind of the Austrian that the discarded
Forcign Minister was plotting against his master. The
rcader will recollect how the Austrian ambassador had
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reported to the Emperor Francis the advice pressed upon
the Czar by Talleyrand at Erfurt ; he heard him now utter
similar sentiments. In his despatch to Count Stadion,
dated 17th January, reporting this interview, he says,
referring to a previous report on the same subject: “I
do not know how to add to what I sent by my last
courier about M. de Talleyrand. I sec him, and his
friecnd Fouché, always the same—very decided to scize
an opportunity, if onc offer, but not having sufficient
courage to make one.” It is clear from the tone of this
despatch that the position of the I'rench army in Spain,
and the uncertainty regarding Napoleon himself, had
inspired Metternich with the absolute conviction that the-
Austrian projects would, if vigorously carried out at the
right moment, have a great chance of success.

On the night of the 22nd, Napoleon arrived. Ile had
made a remarkable quick journey, having taken only six
days from Valladolid to Paris. From the former to
Burgos he had ridden the whole way. On the 24th he
received the ambassadors at a diplomatic audience. A
fresh outburst against Austria had been expected; but.
the cxpectants were at fault. The Emperor addressed
Metternich a few commonplace words on his first round,
and not at all on thé¢ second.

It goes far to prove how completely Metternich had—
to usc a vulgar but expressive term—taken in” Na-
poleon, that, despite his sccret machinations, the private
relations of the Austrian ambassador with the Imperor
and the Imperial family were never more friendly than at.
this period.  “Napoleon continued,” writes Metternich,
“to treat me with his customary kindness. . . . If the-
Paris public judged from my relations to the Court, it
must have been difficult for it to believe in the impending
outbreak of a new war with Austria.”  This circumstance.
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tends to show that, even at this period, Napoleon desired
to avert the hostilities on which, he was well aware,
Austria and her ambassador were alike bent. The
Chancellor of the Russian Empire, M. de Romanzoff, had
accompanied Napoleon from Erfurt to Paris, and during
the Emperor’s visit to Spain, he had remained at thas
city. Ie was one of the men whom Metternich had
failed to scduce. Ile believed in Napoleon, and, in
common with many others, thought that Austria would, if
she were to deelare war, rush upon her doom. Napoleon,
immediately after his return, spoke to this Minister with
perfect frankness on the subject. “It would seem,” he
said to him and to others whom he trusted, “that the
waters which wash the walls of Vienna are the waters of
Lethe and not the waters of the Danube. . . . T do not
desire war with Austria ; I have no interests to serve by
such a war; all my efforts are directed to the field of
battle which England has chosen, that is, Spain. But,
unless she disarm, I shall have to alke upon her a war
of destruction.” A few days later, wishing to prove to
the Russian Minister the sincerity of his desire for peace,
the Emperor requested him to communicate with the
Courts of Vienna and St. Petersburg his proposal to offer
to the Emperor of Austria the joint guarantec of France
and Russia for the maintenance of his actual dominions.
Foresceing, nevertheless, that Austria would neither
disarm nor aecept his guarantee, he made preparations for
cvery possible danger by calling out 80,000 men of the
reserves; then, in order to warn Austria that he was
prepared at all points for any movement she might malke,
he ordered the division Dupas from the shores of the
Baltic to Magdcburg, replacing at the same time by
Polish-Saxon troops the detachments of French troops at
Dantzig, Stettin, Custrin, and Glogau. He ordered
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Marshal Davout to march from Saxony into I'ranconia,
to fix his headquarters at Wurzburg, and to send a division
to occupy Bayreuth. 1le directed General Oudinot to
obtain the consent of the King of Bavaria to his march
from Ilanan to Augsburg; whilst he despatched the
divisions Carra Saint-Cyr a.nd Legrand from the environs
of Paris to Metz; the divisions Boudet and Molitor from
Lyons to Strasburg. To the commanders of the various
corps in Italy, he also sent instructions so to dispose their
troops as to be ready to meet any demonstration on the
part of Austria. Lo obtain, likewise, accurate informa-
tion as to the location of the scveral Austrian corps, he
directed his ambassador at Vienna, General Andrdossy,
to apply for perwission to visit Paris, and, on his journey
thither, to take the route of the centres where, it was
probable, he would have the opportunity of obtaining
information on that head.

But Austria had gone too far to retire now, and the
movements of French troops, far from frightening her,
only roused in her the conviction that she mnst strike
immediately if she would win, Iler agents had been
busy in Tirol, which had been transferred to Bavaria by
the Pcace of Pressburg, and Tirol was ready to risc.
Delay in that quarter was impossible. The army had
been thoroughly reorganised, and was on a war footing.
The Landwehr had been ereated to serve as a reserve,
and was thoroughly organised. Iinns bad been strongly
fortificd to guard against a hostile advance from the side
of Bavaria ; Briick-on-the-Mur, to protect Vienna on the
side of Italy ; and Komorn, to serve as a point of retreat
and rallying in HHungary. The Archduke Charles had
ready in hand for immediate hostilitics an army 300,000
strong, with reserves nnmbering 200,600,

Mecanwhile Metternich remained at Paris. Ile received,
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he says, “no instructions from Vienna,” probably because
the Emperor Irancis, knowing that he was secretly
aware of the intentions of his Court, considered that he
would be Detter able to play his part if he were left
perfectly untrammelled.  Naturally enough, he records
in his Autobiography, he regarded war as certain. He
knew it because his Court had, on his reports, finally
resolved upon it. He gathered much, too, therc can be
no doubt, from the studied reserve of Napoleon. Whilst
he was cordially reccived in the Imperial circle, the
Xmperor and the members of his family never broached
to him the subject of the political situation. The Em-
peror was, it would seem, deceived to the very last in
the character of Metternich., atally for himself, as was
proved in 1813, he never realised the intense personal
and political hatred which Metternich felt for his system,
and for himself as the corner-stone and sole support of it.
To crush that system, or rather to accumulate means
whereby it might be crushed, had been the one object of
Metternich’s embassy, and was to continue the one object
of his life till it had been accomplished. Napoleon failed
to read that inscrutable face. He was deceived to the
last by that courtly and impressive manner.

Matters were still unsettled when the answer of
Alexander to the proposal of a joint guarantee reached
Paris. He preferred, he said, to deal with Austria direct.
There can be no doubt but that Alexander was most
desirous to prevent the outbreak of a war between Irance
and Austria. He preferred, he said, to act alone, be-
cause an Emperor could be more yielding, more able to
yield with a good grace, than two ambassadors. ¢ Let
me act and speak,” he said to Caulaincourt, “if war can
be avoided, I will avoid it”> Napolcon agreed at once
to this proposal, and despatched to the Czar a secret
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authority to promise, not only the double gnarantee, but
the complete evacuation of the territory of the Confedera-
tion of the Rhine, that is to say, the withdrawal of the
French troops from Germany.*

Alexander made, then, the proposal to the Austrian
ambassador at his Court, Prince Schwarzenberg. He
told him frankly that peace was a necessity to him to
carry out certain plans which he had at heart, and that he
would employ all his forces against that power, whichever
it might be, which should embroil Europe in war. The
report of this conversation had the effect the exact opposite
of that it was intended to produce. Austria had, I have
alrcady said, gone too far, and, still hoping that a first
success would change the dispositions of Alexander, she
sent orders to her troops to march, and to Metternich to
inform the Toreign Minister at Paris that, in conse-
quence of the demonstrations made by Napoleon since
his return to Paris, she had been obliged to place her
forces on a war footing. Champagny replied in a sar-
castic tone, stating that to bring an army from a peace
to a war footing was the work of six months ; that the
Zmperor had not been deceived ; that he bad long known
of Austria’s preparations; that he was prepared; and
that if the war were to result disastrously for Austria, it
would not be his fault. After some further conversation
the two ministers separated, cach convineed that war was
inevitable.

Napoleon would have preferred peace for many reasons.
If therc had been no other, there was this all-important
one, that ail his best troops were in Spain. Seceing,
however, that Austria was bent on war, he pushed
forward his preparations to wage it with effect.  What
these were it does not come within the scope of this book

* Iistoire du Consulat et de I' Empire, tome x., pp. 78, 79.
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to relate. It must suffice to reeord that, in the first week
of April, the Austrians seized, at Braunau, a French
officer, the bearer of despatches from the Frenech lega-
tion in Vienna to their legation in Munich. Furious at
this breach of the law of nations, Napoleon ordered, as
a reprisal, the immediate arrest of all Austrian couriers
within reach. On the 10th April the Arehduke Charles
crossed the Inn—at the time, his Rubicon. On the
night of the 14th Napoleon quitted Paris to join his
army. On the morning of the 15th Metternich reccived
a message from Champagny telling him that he had
orders to give him his passports, but that, until an
exchange of the personnel of the embassy should have
been effected, he would not be allowed to leave Paris.
He remained there for about six weeks, enjoying the
pleasures of society just as though there had been no
rupture between the two countries. On the 16th May,
Touché wrote to him that, in consecquence of the orders of
the Emperor, he had to request him to go to Vienna,
there to be exchanged for the personnel of the I'rench
embassy. He quitted Paris the 26th, and, travelling by
Lunéville, where he heard that the French had lost a
decisive battle, referring to Aspern; and by Strasburg—
where he saw the Empress Josephine, who, he found,
fully believed in the report as to the issue of the battle,
and went so far as to express her belief that Metternich
might possibly meet Napoleon returning to France—he
reached Vienna the 5th June.
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CHAPTER III.

FROM THE WAR OF 1809 TO THE RETREAT FROM
MOSCOW.

1809-1812.

ViENNA was occupied by the French. The bulk of their
army was massed in the Isle of Lobau, whence it was to
issue just one month later to fight the battle of Wagram.
It could not be expected that Napoleon, smarting under
the repulse of Aspern, or, as the French call it, of
Essling—a Dbattle which might have cost him half his
army, if, in the very crisis of it, the Archduke Charles,
who commanded the Austrians, had not been paralysed
by a nervous attack, which, for three hours, deprived him
of the use of his faculties—would grant any favour to an
Austrian minister whilst the French diplomatic agent,
scized before the outbreak of the war, should remain a
prisoner.  Accordingly, on the morning of the 7th, Met-
ternich was invited to take up his quarters in a country-
house belonging to his mother, at Griinberg, a mile and
a lalf from Vienna, and close to the garden of Schén-
brunn. e proceeded thither, with his effeets, the fol-
lowing morning. In the interval he had had time and
opportunity to notice, he says, that public spirit had been
aroused in Vienna by the result of the two days’ battle of
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Essling, and that the I'rench had lost confidence. Cham-
pagny, indeed, with whom he dined the evening of the
6th, told him that the Emperor was ““in a good humour ”
as to the result of the campaign. It was but natural,
nevertheless, that the rcal author of the war should,
after the battle already fought, indulge in hope as to the
issuc of the campaign, and it is certain that at this period
that supreme consoler in times of difficulty and danger
was the constant companion of the ex-ambassador.

A few days after he had installed himself at Griinberg,
Metternich received a visit from General Savary, a man
whom he knew to be in the confidence of Napoleon, and
employed when the Emperor particularly desired to bring
about a given result. It soon appeared that the aim of
Savary was to persuade the Austrian statesman to enter,
as it were casually, the garden of Schénbrunn, which was
but a step from his own, for the purpose of encountering
Napoleon. Savary added that the Emperor was in the most
peaceful disposition, and that a meeting between the two
might result in his being commissioned to convey an im-
portant message to the Emperor Francis. It would appear
from Metternich’s version of this incident that he repulsed
the proposal of his visitor, somewhat haughtily, ¢ with a stiff
upper lip.” It was a salve to his pride to regard himself
as a prisoner at Griinberg. Ie concluded, then, his
conversation with Savary with this repelling remark :
“I have nothing to say to your master, and nothing to
hear from him. T am practically a prisoner, and prisoners
of my kind consider themsclves, if they do their duty,
as dead.” It was clear that hope was strong within him,
for he similarly refused an overturc of the same charac-
ter made to him by Champagny, because, we gather
from his Autobiography, he saw that Napoleon shrank
from the risk of another battle, whilst he himself hoped
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everything from a second meeting of the two armies, and
would do nothing which might prevent it.

Metternich, then, did not see Napolecon at Vienna.
On the 26th June he left Grinberg under an escort to
be exchanged against the I'rench officer who had been
scized and detained by the Austrian Government. The
exchange was to take place at Acs, in Hungary, beyond
Pressburg, a little place which had been declared ncutral
for the purpose.  Metternich relates an incident of the
journey thither, which, for the moment, he did not pro-
bably find amusing.  “Opposite the place where, near to
Gényd,” he writes, “the high road runs along the banks
of the Danube, an Austrian battery had been crected.
The officer in command of it, when he saw a train of
carriages coming forward, guarded by a strong cscort,
thought it must be the retinue of the Vieceroy of Italy,
and fired a volley at once. Although the zeal was
misplaced, I could not but do justice to the skill of our
artillerymen.  Of the first two shots onc went through
the wheel of my carriage, the other passed two feet above
the roof of it. Upon this, my escort left the high road,
and took me as quickly as might be across the fields.”

Metternich was exchanged at Acs on the 2nd July,
three days before the battle of Wagram began. Ile is
not sufficiently candid to admit that lis detention, such as
it was, was due entirely to the action of his own Govern-
ment in scizing the Irench officer with despatches before
the declaration of war, and keeping him a prisoner until
he could be exchanged. In the minds of the authors
of the Iloly Alliance a deed, good or bad, changed its
character according as whether the perpetrator was
Napoleon or onc of themselves. The onc could do no
goad, the others could do no wrong.

On the evening of the 3rd (July), he reached Wolkers-
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dorf, a little village some fifteen miles from Vienna, on
the road to Briinn, and the headquarters of the Emperor
Francis. Ile saw the Emperor the same evening, found
him “quict and firm as ever, penetrated with the
difficulty of the situation,” daily expecting an cvent
decisive of the “war.” TIrancis, who had been cagerly
expeeting Metternich, informed him that he intended to
keep him with him during the remainder of the campaign.
Metternich then visited Count Stadion, whom he found
in the depths of despondency.

The day of July the 4th was spent by both sides in
preparations for the impending battle. The following
day it began. “On thc morning of July 5, writes
Metternich, “T joined the Emperor on the battlefield on
which the fate of the Empire was to be decided. The
battlc was soon general, and we did not retarn to
Wolkersdorf till nightfall, amid the blazing buildings
which covered the Marchfeld. When we repaired to
our post of observation in the grey of the early morning
of the next day, we witnessed the apparently decisive
result of the right wing of our army. About one o’clock
in the afternoon, however, Count Colloredo, a general-
adjutant of the Archduke, came with the information to
the Emperor, that his Imperial Ilighness had ordered
the retrcat of the army. Without losing his self-posses-
sion, the Ewmperor asked the messenger whether the
Archduke had only determined on the retreat, or whether
it had already commenced. WWhen the Emperor heard
that the army was in full retreat, he said to the adju-
tant, ¢ Very well,” and, turning to me, added, ¢ We shall
have much to retricve.” Ilis Majesty gave immediate
orders to remove his headquarters to Znaimn.”

The battle of Wagram, won by Napoleon chiefly be-
causc the Viceroy of Italy, Eugene de Beauharnais, obeyed

E
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his orders and joined him with the army which had been
operating in Italy, whereas the commander of the Austrian
forces opposed to him, the Archduke John, did not obey
his brother’s orders to join him, but remained idle at
Pressburg while the battle was raging, was, in no sense,
a decisive battle. The Austrians were forced to retreat,
but the retreat never became a rout; they lost no cannon,
and their army, if it had fallen back upon Iungary or
Moravia, and taken up that of the Archduke John, would
have been very capable of prolonging the war, and of
making its opponent, compelled to move further and
further from his base, feel more and more strongly cvery
day the insccurity of his position. Of this no one was
more sensible than Napoleon. Spain was engulfing his
best troops ; he had in front of him an army which, though
beaten, was equal in numbers to his own ; whilst around
him he had a sccihing Germany, ready, as the events of
1813 proved, to risc en masse against him, should it
appear that Fortune had abandoned him. His clear,
penetrating, mind read the situation in all its bearings,
and he determined, by the means at his disposal, to force
peace on the Emperor Francis.

That sovereign, on the other hand, ought, in his own
interest and in the interest of his people, to have insisted,
as, in similar circumstances, Alexander insisted in 1812,
on the continuance of the war. It is duc to the Austrian
Emperor to admit that he recognised the wisdom of
such a coursc ; but he was liable to be despondent, to
act upon impulse. 1le had, however, by his side, a man
who rccognised the situation almost as clearly as did
Napoleon, and who, at the moment, occupied the position
which would enable him to give effect to his convictions.
Tor, on the morrow at Wagram, Count Stadion, the
Torcign Minister who had prematurcly begun the war,
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vesigned his office.  Ile was actually, though not at the
moment nominally, succeeded in it by Metternich, who had
gained the confidence of his master by his services at
Paris, and who kept it to the last hour of the Emperor’s
life. The selection, under the circumstances, was a
specially happy one, for Metternich had made of the
character of Napoleon a study, and his keen, cold, and
unimpassioned intellect had recognised its strong and its
weak points alike. e was resolved that, so far as he
could influence events, there should be no humiliating
peace—that is, no peace which should weaken Austria as
Prussia had been weakened ; that, rather, the war should
be continued until, from alarm at his isolated position and
the cvents surging around him, the French Lmperor
should be forced to retrcat. Then, when he should have
cvacuated Austrian territory, Metternich would treat for
a peace which should be solid.

But events were too strong for Metternich. Ie could
not command the army, and the Archduke Charles, who
did command it, committed at this period one of those
mistakes which, in war, is almost always irretrievable.
Instcad of retreating, after Wagram, upon Iungary—a
retreat which would have drawn to him the army of his
brother John, assured to him all the resources of that
fertile country, and drawn the Irench dangerously far
from their base—or upon Moravia, he chose to fall back
into Bohemia, the very line which Napoleon himself would
have prescribed to him had he bad a voice in the matter.
T'or a short interval the French generals, sent to pursue
the Austrian army, were puzzled as to the line the cnemy
had taken, there being some indications that a portion
of their troops were trending towards Moravia. 'The
sagacity or the happy inspiration of Marmont solved the
doubt. Certain indications produced in the mind of that

E 2
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general the conviction that Znaim would prove the
covering angle of the retreat.  Upon Znaim, then, despite
every temptation to pursue another route—and these were
not wanting—>Marmont unhesitatingly pressed ; estab-
lished himself in front of the Austrian corps occupying
the place the afternoon of the 10th (July); was joined in
the morning by Masséna. That famous general, the
greatest in the French army after Napoleon, at once
attacked the Austrian position, reinforced during the
night by the Archduke in person, and carried it. The
cavalry not having arrived, the encmy could not be
pursucd.

Mecanwhile Napoleon arrived on the ground. Almost
simultancously there came Prince John of Liechtenstein
to demand a suspension of arms, and to promise the
opening of a negotiation for the conclusion of immediate
peace.  After a short consultation with his marshals,
Napoleon consented, simply requiring from Prince John
a promise that plenipotentiaries should be at once ap-~
pointed to negotiate the conditions of a truce. This
demand was conceded, and Prince John nominated Daron
Winmpflen as negotiator on behalf of Austria.  Napoleon
named Berthier.

The men to negotiate a permanent peace were,
naturally, the statesmen of the two countries. The day
after the truce had Dbeen arranged, Napolcon sent
Champagny to Komorn, where Francis and Metternich,
bearing the title of Minister of State, had taken up their
abode, to propose the carrying into cffect the arrangement
he had come to with Prince Jolm of Liechtenstein.
Trancis being inclined to agree, Metternich arranged
with Champagny that the negotiations should be carried
on at the town of Altenburg, in Ilungary, by the two
Foreign Ministers in person.  Meanwhile Prince John of
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Licchtenstein took command of the Austrian army, in
place of the Archduke Charles who resigned, and, a few
days later, I'rancis moved to Totis, the headquarters of
the new Commander-in-chief. It is neccessary to add
that Count Bubna was appointed military commissary for
the Emperor with Napoleon, and that Count Nugent was
nominated to act as sccond negotiator under Metternich.

The real thoughts of the Austrian plenipotentiary at
this period may be gathered from a letter written to his
mother from Altenburg, dated August 1, 1809 :

« It is truc it is not we who hang back, it is true it is we who desire
peace, but it must be a peace which shall rid us of the nceessity of
watching our safety cvery hour of the day and night, which shall
allow us to enjoy the blessings of peace—to disarm, to flatter ourselves
with the possibility of remaining quiet for a time. Again, if we do
not wish to undergo certain death in six months, if we do not wish to
throw the monarchy out of the window, and that window one from
which the leap would be equivalent to the Emperor's last resource, we
must not desire it. If Napoleon desire the destruetion of Austria—at
any rate it is better to fight him with 300,000 men, than with 50,000.”

The meaning of these words is too clear to be mis-
understood.  “We want peace, but not a Napolconic
peace—a peace which will eripple our resources, and
reduce our army to the level to which the Prussian army
has been reduced. Better to fight now when we still have
300,000 men, than to make a humiliating peace, only to
fight a few years later, when our army shall have been
reduced to 50,000.”

No doubt this was a true and a patriotic view. But on
this occasion Metternich was neither so cool nor so clear
in his purpose as we shall see him at a later epoch. It is
ninpossible to read his letters to his mother without being
driven to the conclusion that despair was beginning to
lessen his self-confidence.  Certainly in onc important
respeet, the basis of his action was wrong: for, if his
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Autobiography is to be trusted, he did not correctly read
the motives of the Irench Emperor in assenting to a
truce. Ie says that he did not believe that the Emperor
was serious in his negotiations for peace ; that he regarded
his treating as a mode of gaining time to recruit his
forces to rencw the war, unless, by this demonstration,
he could terrify Austria into accepting a peace which
should so cripple her resources as to render her powerless
to resist further aggressions on the part of the conqueror.
Now it is abundantly cvident that at this time—and
Metternich learnt it at a later period—Napoleon was
resolved to make peace with Austria, peace on his own
terms if he could, but almost any peace rather than
continue the war. Matters were not progressing well in
Spain.  The jealousy—that bane of French commanders
in the Peninsula—of Marshal Victor had not only
extricated Sir Arthur Wellesley from a false position at
Talavera: it had caused the loss of a battle. Then a
formidable English army was approaching the shores of
Holland. The continuance of the war with Austria would
involve Napoleon in a campaign which might, if the
Austrians should be led by a man who understood the
situation, be long and tedious. Alrcady Napoleon had
been surprised at the solidity of the resistance which he
had encountered. In 1806, Prussia had fallen before
him like a house of cards. Austria, on the contrary, had
beaten him at Essling, and though he claimed, and justly
claimed, Wagram as a victory, it was a victory by which
he gained merely the ground on which the battle had
been fonght.  If, then, he could obtain, as he believed he
could obtain, by the prestige of his position as occupying
the enemy’s capital, and as supporting his army on the
cnemy's country, terms of peace which, while satisfying
his vanity as victor, should yet somewhat, though not to
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the extent he had originally determined, diminish the
resources of Austria, he would hold his hand, and divert
to Spain the resources which would be no longer required
in Southern Germany.

At the outset of the negotiations it scemed as though
the distance between the pretensions of the two Powers
was so vast that it would be very difficult to find a middle
way. If we are to believe the historian of the Consulate
and the Empire, Metternich demanded that Austria
should be dealt with in a large and generous spirit ; that
she should not be required to make any cession of territory.
Treated thus, he added, Austria would become to France
a firmer and more constant ally than Russia; less given
to change, and at least as powerful ; that such a procedure
would be far more advantageous to Napoleon than would
be the despoiling of the Austrian Empire for the benefit
of ungrateful Powers such as Bavaria, Wirtemberg, and
Saxony. A peace of that character, he added, would of
all solutions be the solution most favourable to French
iuterests, but if such a basis were inadmissible, it only
remained to bargain how much Austria should resign;
that such a method would be cruel for Austria, and really
disadvantageous for France ; further, that if that method
were adopted, it would not be for him, but for the French
negotiator, to take the first step.*

Champagny replied that the first system had been tried
after Austerlitz, and had failed ; that, after such an experi-
ence, it was no longer possible to be generous ; thatit was
nccessary that war should be made costly to those who
cntered upon it so lightly, and with so little seruple.
After some further conversation he presented the proposal
of treating on the basis of the uti possidetis. To this
claim, which, it will be readily uuderstood, was not

* Thiers: tome xi., pp. 255-8.
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seriously put forward, Metternich replied that rather
than discuss it Austria would fight so long as there was a
man left to bear a sword. ‘

Of this conversation there was no written record.
Napoleon had objected to the use of protocols, and
though he subsequently withdrew his objection, it was
only, according to Metternich, when he had resolved to
carry out the negotiation in a mauner peeuliarly his own.
After the conversations I have recorded the two negotiators
remained for a time inactive, waiting, it would seem, for
instructions. At length the I'rench Minister, acting on
his master’s orders, made the first move. The Emperor,
said Champagny, reserving the question of Italy, will be
content with the cession of, on the Danube, the line of
the Enns, to forin there the frontier of Davaria.  As this
cession would transfer to Bavaria 800,000 souls, and bring
her frontier to within about a hundred miles of Vienna,
it was clear that Austria could not accept it ; but, before
replying, Metternich insisted on learning the French
propositions regarding Italy. These proved to be at Jeast
as startling. Napoleon, forced to reply, demanded through
his Minister, Carinthia, Carniola, and the right bank of
the River Save, from its source at Wochein in Carniola
to the frontiers of Bosnia. Such terms were impossible,
and it is certain that Napoleon knew that they would be
so considered.  But they produced the eftect he intended,
that is, they produced on Metternich and on the Austrian
Emperor a feeling of profound discouragement ; the belief
that Napoleon, who was in his heart not only eager but
nervously anxious for peace, was determined to reduce
Austria to nothing, or to continue the war. For the
moment, then, Metternich gave an evasive reply, asking
whether this demand included all the saerifices required
by the I'rench Emperor.
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It did not.  On the 4th September, Napoleon completed
his demand. lle required, he said, three circles of
Bohemia to be given to his ally, the King of Saxony, and
about one half of Galicia, to add to the Grand Duchy of
Warsaw. 1f all these demands should be grauted the
population of Austria would be diminished by five millions.
«The Austrian legation,” writes M. Thiers, “still made
no reply, but M. de Metternich continued in his private
conversations to deplore the system of peace adopted by
Napoleon, calling it narrow, cruel, bargained (marché),
instead of a gencrous peace which would have assured a
long period of repose, and a definitive pacification.”

The silence of Austria, a silence which was the result
of the profound discouragement created by the demands
made upon her and by the fear lest the negotiations should
be broken off and hostilities rencwed, was so little satis-
factory to Napoleon that he determined, more suo, to finish
with the matter.  On the Tth September, he directed
Count Bubna, who, I have stated, had been appointed
Austrian Military Commissary at the headquarters of
the French Emperor, to request the Emperor Irancis to
send Prince John of Licchtenstein to Vienna. “The
diplomatists,” added Napolcon, “do not know how to
manage an affair like the present ; we soldiers understand
cach other better,” and more of the same sort. Bubna
vresented the intentions of Napoleon with respect to the
conditions of peace as more favourable than had appeared
previously ; but as he brought with him no guarantee,
nothing but empty words, I'rancis, who was not under the
spell of the fascination exercised by Napoleon upon his
Commissary, declined for the moment to accede to the
request; but sent back Dubna with a letter stating that
the conditions indicated by Napoleon in his conversation
with that official were not such as Austria could aceept—



58 LIFE OF PRINCE METTERNICIL

that further concessions were necessary, if the Irench
Ewmperor desired a peace which should be stable.

This reply responded so little to the wishes of Napoleon
that he resolved to take measures such as he thought
would intimidate Austria into compliance. Making it
clear to Count Bubna that his army had been reinforeed,
that he was ready to recommence hostilities, he sent him
back to Francis to declare that the message of which the
Count had been the bearer on his previous journey was his
ultimatum, and that if that were rejected, hostilities would
be at once rencwed.

If Mectternich had been the Emperor Irancis, it is
almost certain that the proposal would have been rejected
and the war been renewed, unless, at the last moment,
Napolcon should himself have given way.  But Metternich
was not even by theside of his master ; and Irancis, afraid
to take upon himself the respousibility of renewing
hostilities, the result of whieh, if adverse, would be the
breaking up of his Empire, and hoping something from.
compliance, despatched Prince John of Liechtenstein with
Count Bubna to Vienna.

Of the nature of the mission entrusted to Prince John
there arc two versions. M. Thiers asserts that the Prince
went to Vienna with power to consent to the principal
bases posed by Napoleon at his first interview with Count
Bubna, but instrueted to endeavour to obtain concessions
with respeet to the sacrifices demanded in Upper Austria ;
to the contributions required for the expenses of the war,
and, generally, to the details.  Metternich, on the other
hand, declares that Prince John, who stopped at Altenburg
to see him on his way to Vieuna, brought him a letter
from the Emperor Francis telling him that the mission
had no other object but to arrive at a knowledge of
Napoleon’s intentions ; that the Field Marshal (Prince
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John) had orders to listen to everything, but not to cnter
into any discussion. It is clear, however, that DPrince
John showed him his more extended powers ; for, he adds,
that he informed the Prince of the mistake he was com-
mitting in proceeding on such an errand.

“When the Prince,” he writes, “ had informed me of the instructions
he had received, I said to him: ¢If T had been aware of your mission,
rather than you should have passed the outposts of the French army,
I would have taken upou myself to request you to wait, till I had
spoken to the Emperor. We are no longer in Altenburg; you are
within reach of the hostile army, and must go on. DBut I tell you
beforchand, that of two things one will happen : either Napoleon
will lead you to do something which will compromise our cause, or he
will prevent you from returning to your post. The army must have
its commanders; this Napoleon knows, and has drawn you away from
it. IIe will either constrain the Emperor to conclude a peace which
he ought not to conclude, or he will deprive him of the means of
carrying on the war.” The Prince, who was much agitated by what
I said, declared he was ready to go back to Totis. I showed him that
he must perform the commission he had undertaken, but must make
every cffort not to depart from it.”

When the Autobiography of Prince Metternich first
appeared, the passage I have just quoted was one of the
passages which especially attracted attention. To me,
after close examination, it appears to bear, as so many
passages in the Autobiography appear to bear, the signs
of having been “edited.” The reader will not fail to
notice that the action of Francis in sending Prince John
to Vienna, even as Metternich asserts, that he might play
there only the part of a listener, was to take the negotiation
out of the hands of Metternich and Champagny. Then
again, is it reasonable to believe that Prince John was
sent merely as a listener, when Count Bubna had already
twice fulfilled that function? Why should the Com-
mander-in-chief of the Austrian army accept a position,
the dutics of which had been ably performed by the sub-
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ordinate to whom they properly belonged, and in which
he could do little more than act the part of amute. “The
Field-Marshal had orders to listen to everything, but not
to enter into discussion on any subjeet,” writes Metternich,
Tt scems the height of absurdity to suppose that the Ficld-
Marshal would aceept such a wission. Scarcely less
absurd is the plea put forward by Metternich as to why
he refrained from aceepting Prince John’s offer to return
to his post, after he had enlightened that Prince as to the
alternative which lay before him. ¢ We are no longer in
Altenburg,” says Prince Mectternich. But they were in
Altenburg.  “The DPrince stopped to see me at Alten-
burg;” then followed the conversation on which I am
commenting. If he would not take upon himself the re-
sponsibility of stopping and sending back Prince John
before passing the cordon of French troops round Altenburg
there seems no reason why, if he considered the danger
so great, he should not have detained him for at least a
few hours until he could communicate with his master.
qually fanciful, it scems tome, is the notion, prominently
set forth, that Napoleon had invited Prince John to
Vienna, in order to deprive the Austrian army of its
Commander-in-Chief.  Such a policy would have been in-
telligible if the Commander-in-Chief of the Austrian army
had been a MHannibal, a Prinee Eugtre, a Villars, a
Frederick, or a Masséna ; but to deprive an army of a
Prince Jolm of Licchtenstein was surely not very much.
The Prince had assumed the command but a few days
before ; distinguished as a fighting soldier, he had never
held a separate command. O the other hand, the reason
why Napoleon wanted Prince John at Vienna is clear.
11c bad had previous relations with him of a very friendly
character ; it was Prince John who had ncgotiated the con-
ditions of the armistice after Austerlitz, and who had signed
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the Peace of Pressburg.  Napoleon knew the gencrous
nature of the man, and felt sure he could attain his ends
more surcly by working upon that nature, than by con-
tinuing to negotiate with Metternich.  For these recasons
I cannot regard the account given by Metternich of the
origin and progress of the negotiations of Prince John of
Licchtenstein with Napolcon as other than an cbullition
of spleen, produced by the feeling that the matter had
been, without warning and somewhat cavalierly, taken out
of his hands.

What followed may be compressed within a few words.
Prinee John and Count Bubna proceeded to Vienna the
27th of September, and, on the 30th, agreed with
Napoleon as to the conditions of peace. The only point
left unsettled was that which referred to the payment of
an indemnity. To obtain definite instructions on this
point, Bubna proceeded to Totis, to take there the orders.
of his master. Bubna found great uncertainty at the
Austrian headquarters as to whether a continuance of
the war was not preferable to a peace which would enor-
mously reduce the resources of the Empire.  Butif we may
believe M. Thiers, a well-timed intimation from Russia
that if Austria were to continue the war, she, Russia, would
be compelled to assist Napoleon in the ficld, almost
decided the Emperor Francis. Prince John then took
upon himself to take a step beyond his instructions, and,
on the 14th October, signed the Peace of Vienna.

To that peace, and to its terms, Metternich was an
absolute stranger. Ile goes so far as to assert that
Napoleon obtained it by unworthy artifices, and, having
procured the signature of the Austrian Commissioners,
announced the fact to the citizens of Vienna by the firing
of a cannon so as to render it impossible for Irancis to
disavow it. Here again, I think his Autobiography isnot
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a safe guide. e says that the treaty, which Prince John
belicved to be only ““the project of a treaty to be sub-
mitted to the Emperor of Austria,” was signed the night
of the 1:th, and communicated by the firing of cannon to
the Viennese on the morning of the 14th ; that he himself
was aware of it from the mouth of Prince John himself
on the evening of the same day :

“Yet,” he continues, “without compromising himself and his
Tmpire in a most dangerous manner, the Emperor could not reject the
conclusion of a peace which had been already announced, amid the
rejoicings of the people in the eapital, and in more than a thinl part
of the country still remaining to him. The Emperor ratified the
treaty.”

Surely, what is this but to declarc that it was at any
moment in the power of an unscrupulous man such as
Metternich believed Napoleon to be, to fire cannon and
to send out couriers to announce peace which had not been
concluded, in order thus to obtain thereto the consent of
his antagonist.  If this trcaty was, as Metternich asserts,
no treaty, but only the project of a treaty, how was it that
Prince John did not at once denounce it ?

The treaty having been ratified, Mctternich became, by
title as well as in fact, Chancellor of the Empire and
Minister for Forcign Affairs.  In that capacity he returned
with Irancis to Vienna at the end of November, and
devoted himself to the task of secing that the conditions
of the treaty were loyally carried out. Ile could not but
recognise that the war of 1809 had resulted most dis-
astrously for his conntry, in that the peace which was the
consequence of it had bound it with a circle of iron; de-
prived it of its communication with the Adriatic; and, by
a sceret clause, had limited the maximum of the Austrian
forces to 150,000 men.  Still, he maintained his lofty
attitude—still he hoped.  The success of Napoleon in
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this campaign would, he believed, still more inflate his
pride.

«I foresaw,” he wrote, ** that neither he nor his undertakings would
escape the consequence of rashness and extravagance. The when and
the how I could not pretend to :dctermine. Thus my reason pointed
out to me the direetion I had to take in order not to interferc with the
natural development of the situation, and to kecp open for Austria the
chances which the greatest of all powers—the power of circumstances—
might offer, sooner or later, nnder the strong government of its
monarch, for the much-threatened prosperity of the Empire.”

We find him again tracing all the misfortunes of
Europe back to the Revolution, “which,” he says,
¢ found its highest expression in Napoleon.”

At Vienna, then, Metternich resumed the 7dle he had
played at Paris—the 6le of master-conspirator against
Napoleon. The fact that the sceret combinations made
between 1806 aund 1809 had resulted in -a further
dismemberment of the Austrian Empire and a large
diminution of its resources, in no way abated his pride or
lowered his confidence.  He still remained the centre, the
soul, the hope, of those to whom the name of Napolcon
was abomination. Ilec was that centre, that soul, and
that hope, when an event occurred which caused him, for
a bricf moment, to reconsider his position.

At a masked bail at Paris, given by the Arch-Chancellor,
Cambacéres, Napoleon sounded Madame Metternich as
to whether she thought that the Archduchess, Marie
Louise, would accept his hand, and whether her father
would agree to the alliance.  Madame Metternich replied
that that was a matter on which the then Austrian
ambassador, Prince Schwarzenberg, not she, should be
consulted ; and, the same evening she mentioned the
conversation to that Prince.  The following morning,
Prince Eugene, Viceroy of Italy, called on the Austrian
ambassador, and “in the name of the Emperor and with
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the knowledge of Lis mother, the Empress Josephine,”
made the sane offer. Prince Schwarzenberg at once-
referred the matter to Vienna.

We are bound, it scems to me, to accept Metternicl’s
version of what happened at Vienna when the courier
arrived there with the despatch containing the offer, for,
in it, he and the Emperor Francis were alone concerned.
“ As soon as the courier brought me this news,” he
writes, “I repaired to the Imperor. Your Majesty,”
gaid I, “is here placed in a sitnation in which the ruler
and the father can alone say yes or no. One or other
must be spoken by you, for a doubtful or hesitating-
answer is not possible.”  On the Emperor asking Metter-
nich what he would do in his place, the cautious states-
man replied that there were cases in which it was im-
possible for one man to put himself in the place of another,
and that this was one of them. Finally Francis resolved
to leave the decision entirely to his daughter, and Metter-
nich at once waited upon Marie Louise. The interview
was short but decisive. The Archduchess placed herself
absolutely in the hands of her father, to be disposed of as
high policy, that is, the interests of Austria, might dictate.
The Timperor Francis, believing that the marriage would
secure to Jurope some years of political peace, despatched
a couricr to Paris to accept the offer, with the sole
reservation that on neither side should any condition be:
attached to it.* 'This was the event which, 1 stated in

* TIn his Autobiography Metternich repeatedly brings into prominent
notice the manncer in which ho was gnided by his conscience. In the
mattcr of the marriage of Marie Louise it has often been wondeved
how the conscicnees of the high dignitarics of the Iloman Catholic
Church, as well as tho Emperor of Austria and his family, should have
sanctioncd a divorce, when divorce is contrary to the law of the
Church. Mectternich, with a strange forgctfulness of facts, denies that
there was any difliculty. He says: “One question which uaturally
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a preceding page, caused Metternich for a brief moment
to reconsider thesituation. ¢ That this event,” he wrote,
“drew a linc between the past and present is quite
cvident.”

Was that line a line of cffacement? Would the
conqueror, admitted within the pale of the ancient régimes,
put his sword in its sheath, and build up the future of
France? Or, would he, with the help of Austria, found
a dynasty, and yet continuc his system of conquest?
These were the questions which occurred to DMetternich,
and which he felt he could not solve at Vienna. Ile
therefore requested his master to allow him to proceed to
Paris at the same time as the new Empress, and to remain
there until he could satisfy his mind. Francis assented ;
whercupon, after the marriage bhad been celebrated, by
proxy on the part of Napolcon, at Vienna (March 11,
1810). Metternich set out for Paris, though not by the
same road as that taken by Maric Louisc and her suite.

had a great interest for the public was the divorce of Napoleon and
Josephine. For the Church the question did not exist, and therefore
not for the Emperor. Napolecon had contracted a civil marriage with
the express understanding that the union could be dissolved; in tho
cyes of the Church, therefore, it was not a valid marriage. Indeed,
Tad it been otherwise, the scheme could not have been entertained for
a moment. The dissolution of the first marriage, so ealled, had only,
thercefore, the value of a mere formality such as the French civil law
requircd.”  Thus Metternich. The truth, however, is that Napoleon
and Josephine, who liad, indeed, been only civilly married under the
Directory, were religiously united, two days before the Coronation, by
Cardinal Fesch, before an altar which had been erccted in the
Iimperor’s cabinet. This fact, which the historians of the time do
not fuil to mention, is placed beyond all doubt by the memoirs of
Madame de Rémusat. Did Metternich and the Austrian Court,
then, voluntarily shut their eyes to a fact, which, according to
Metternich, would have prevented the entertaining for a moment of the
idea of the marriage? It is very difficult to belicvo that they did
not.

F
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ITe did not, thus, meet Napoleon until after the latter had
seen his bride.

Napoleon welcomed Metternich ¢ with visible signs of
satisfaction.” He spoke to him, amongst other pleasant
matters, of “an cntire forgetfulness of the past, of a
happy and peaccful epoch, of the impossibility that any-
thing should disturb the natural relations between us.”
Regarding the war of 1809, the Emperor admitted, for a
moment, that if in the month of September, Austria had
recommenced hostilities, I should have been lost ;” but
noting the cffect of the word “lost” on his listener,
he withdrew it, and substituted the phrase, “in great
difficulties.”  But Metternich insisted on the first
expression, held to it in his argument ; and, there can be
very little doubt, so used it as to inspire those with whom
he conversed with the conviction of its truth. The time
was to come when Alexander would be, after the battle of
La Moskowa (Borodino), in a position almost analogous
to that of I'rancis after \Wagram. Rendered wisc by the
experience of others, he declined to treat.

Metternich enjoyed many confidential conversations with
the Emperor at Compiegne, and these were continued
when he veturned to Paris. There, he tells us, Napoleon
placed at his disposal the ITotel of Marshal Ney with a
complete houschold. It would seem that Napoleon’s
remarks on political matters were characterised by great
frankness and sincerity. Talking of Russia he expatiated
at length on his relations with that Power, convincing his
listener that Austria would require to exercise prudence
and wisdom to avoid a rupture with her.  Ile displayved a
strong desire to render himself useful and agrecable to
Austria ; and in these first moments left upon the mind
of Metternich the belief that the Emperor was animated
by a very decided conviction that the existence of Austria,
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far from being incompatible with that of aggrandised
France, “would serve him as a shield.” Everything
scemed to show that the impressions of the Austrian
Chancellor were correct.  There existed at this period a
very strong feeling of antagonisin between Napoleon and
Pope Pius VII. By a decree, dated 17th May, 1809,
issued from Vienna, the Emperor had incorperated with
the I'rench Lwmpire all the ecstates of the Church, and
had declared Rome an imperial and free city. The Pope
had replied, 10th June, by a bull of excommunication.
Whercupon, Napoleon had caused the Quirinal to be
surrounded, and the Pope conveyed to Savona, where he
was detained a prisoner.  He was still a virtual prisoner at
Savona when Metternich visited Paris, and Napoleon was
desirous to avail himself of the mediation of his guest to in-
duce Pius VII. toreturn to Rome. Metternich undertook
the task, and despatched an envoy upon whom he could rely,
the Chevalier Lebzeltern, to Savona with propositions for a
compromise, on the understanding, however, that the Pope
was to return to Rome, and aceept the disposal of the States
of the Church made by Napoleon at Vienna. Lebzeltern
saw the Pope, and seemed for an instant to have thought
that the matter might be arranged if Napoleon would
make only a few more concessions; but a letter from
Pius VIL to Metternich, dated the 21st May, dissipated
this illusion. The Pope declined “ to make conditions not
suitable to the dignity of the Iloly Sce, and to the Vicar
of Jesus Christ ” ; and the mediation failed.

These and other confidences which passed between the
Emperor and his guest went far, if not to remove, at least
to wecaken, some of the prejudices against Napolcon
which up to that time had formed a part and parcel of
Metternich’s moral being. It is just possible that if he
had left Paris then, when he had been there but twe

F 2



63 LIFE OF PRINCE METTERNICH.

months, he would have modified his previous views, and
possibly his policy. But he was but half convinced that
the “Incarnation of the Revolution” had been so meta~
morphosed by his marriage as to have become, in all his
ideas and sympathies, as one of the family with which he
was now allied. When, then, in May, he broached to the
Emperor the question of the prolongation of his stay in
I'rance, and the Emperor warmly responded, Metternich,
who was less anxious to talk of the past than to obtain
a glimpse of the future, clutched cagerly at the suggestion.
The conversation on the subject illustrates the extreme
cordiality which existed at this period between the twe
men, onc of whom was, in spite of himsclf, at heart, the
irreconcilable opponent of the other. Metternich having
told the Xmperor of the duties which required his presence
at Vienna, had added :

«The Emperor Francis wished me to accompany his daughter into
Franee; I have come by his orders, but it must be evident to you thas
my wish goes beyond this, and I would gladly find a guiding prineiple
for my politieal action in a more remote future” I understand

you,” answered Napoleon; “your wish eorresponds with my own.
Stay with us a few weeks, and you will leave us with satisfaction.” *

* « Aceording to my conviction, Napoleon never knew me, never
divined me.  The cause is very simple.  Napoleon was the man in ail
the world who most despised the human race. IIe had a strange
aptitude for discovering the weak sides of men, and all passious are
weak sides, or produee them. Ho loved only men with strong
passions, or great weaknesses ; he judged the most opposite qualitics
in men by these defeets. In me he encountered a calmness which
must canse despair to one who founded his caleulations on passions.
Ience he denied the existence in me of every quality bearing on pure
rcason, or whieh is reason itself. I have often involuntarily laughed
in Napoleow’s presence, when I remarked that he judged me falscly.
Therefore I knew Napoleon mueh better than he knew me. Seven
years of resolute study sufliec to know a man, espceially a man
whos» natare and actions are all external—that is, for a ealm observer
who is not led astray by any feeling of fear and awe.”—Autobiograply
of Prince Mctlernich, vol. iii.
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Metternich thus stayed to find “a guiding principle ”
for the policy of Austria towards France; to satisfy
himself whether the husband of Marie Louise had become
a different man to the husband of Josephine. He enjoyed
many opportunitics of forming an opinion. He accom-
panied the newly-married pair to Cambrai, on their way
to Brussels, and was an eye-witness to the enthusiasm
with which the young Empress was everywhere received
by the people. On his and their return to Paris, he
continued his cordial relations with Napoleon. Ile
nientions more than once that the Emperor seemed to be
anxious to convince him of the many-sidedness of his
character ; that he was as clear-headed and capable as an
administrator as he had proved himself to be as a warrior.
Still he watched, and watched in vain, for the nplifting of
the veil which hid from him the secret dispositions of his
lost. To mno purpose did Napoleon give him every
opportunity to sce and converse with Marie Louisc alone,
that he might hear from her all that she might choose to
say to her father’s friend and confidant ; it was without the
result he desived that he was asked to act as the friend of
her childhood had a right to act, that is, to give her
advice whenever he might think advice necessary ; that
Napoleon showered upon him attention after attention.
ITc remained unsatisfied ; calculating ; suspicious ; waiting
the hour when Napoleon sh